

Department of Neurology

University of Helsinki

# Brain imaging of chronic pain

Nuutti Vartiainen

Brain Research Unit, Low Temperature Laboratory and Advanced Magnetic Imaging Centre Helsinki University of Technology

# ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed by permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki in the Lecture Hall TU1, Helsinki University of Technology, Otaniementie 17, on November 18, 2009 at 12 noon.

ISBN 978-952-92-6479-7 (nid.) ISBN 978-952-10-5885-1 (PDF)

> Picaset Oy Helsinki 2009

#### **Supervisors**

Docent Nina Forss, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>1,2</sup> Professor Riitta Hari, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Brain Research Unit Low Temperature Laboratory Helsinki University of Technology Espoo, Finland <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers

Docent Maija Haanpää, M.D., Ph.D. ORTON Rehabilitation ORTON Foundation Helsinki, Finland

Docent Juhani Partanen, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Clinical Neurophysiology Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Professor Christian Büchel, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Systems Neuroscience University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf Hamburg, Germany

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS

ABSTRACT	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. BACKGROUND	3
2.1 ANATOMY AND PHYSIOLOGY OF PAIN PATHWAYS	
2.1.1 Nociceptors and peripheral pathways	
2.1.2 Dorsal horn and spinal cord	4
2.1.3 Ascending nociceptive projections to thalamus and brainstem	6
2.1.4 Central structures	8
2.1.5 Descending and modulatory projections	12
2.1.6 Pain and the central motor system	13
2.2 Chronic pain	14
2.3 COMPLEX REGIONAL PAIN SYNDROME	15
2.4 Herpes simplex virus infections and chronic pain	17
2.5 BRAIN IMAGING IN ACUTE AND CHRONIC PAIN	18
2.6 BRAIN IMAGING METHODS	20
2.6.1 Magnetoencephalography and electroencephalography	20
2.6.2 Functional magnetic resonance imaging	23
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY	26
4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
4.1 Subjects	27
4.1.1 Healthy subjects	27
4.1.2 Chronic pain patients	27
4.2 Stimuli	29
4.2.1 Tactile stimuli	29
4.2.2 Thulium-laser stimuli	29
4.2.3 Thermode stimuli	30
4.3 MAGNETOENCEPHALOGRAPHIC AND ELECTROENCEPHALOGRAPHIC RECORDINGS	30
4.4 FUNCTIONAL MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING MEASUREMENTS	31
5. EXPERIMENTS	33
5.1 Optimising interstimulus interval for cortical laser-evoked responses	33
5.1.1 Results	33
5.1.2 Discussion	34
5.2 RESPONSES TO TACTILE AND NOXIOUS STIMULATION ARE ALTERED IN COMPLEX REGIONAL PAIN SYNDROME	34

5.2.1 Results	
5.2.2 Discussion	
5.3 MOTOR-CORTEX REACTIVITY TO NOXIOUS STIMULATION IS DECREASED IN COMPLEX REGIONAL	PAIN SYNDROME 38
5.3.1 Results	
5.3.3 Discussion	
5.4 PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC PAIN AND RECURRENT HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS INFECTIONS SHOW PLAS	TIC CHANGES IN THE
PRIMARY SOMATOSENSORY CORTEX	
5.4.1 Results	
5.4.2 Discussion	
5.5 CHRONIC PAIN IN PATIENTS WITH RECURRENT HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS HAS A CENTRAL CONTRIBU	UTION 43
5.5.1 Results	
5.5.2 Discussion	
6. GENERAL DISCUSSION	
6.1 PRIMARY SOMATOSENSORY CORTEX REORGANIZATION AND CHRONIC PAIN	
6.2 CHANGES IN OTHER CORTICAL AREAS IN CHRONIC PAIN	
6.3 CHRONIC PAIN AND RECURRENT HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS INFECTIONS	
6.4 Future goals	
7. CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

# Abbreviations

ACC	Anterior cingulate cortex
BOLD	Blood oxygen level dependent
CRPS	Complex regional pain syndrome
EEG	Electroencephalography
ECD	Equivalent current dipole
ENMG	Electroneuromyography
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
IASP	International Association for the Study of Pain
IC	Insular cortex
ISI	Interstimulus interval
LEF	Laser-evoked field
LEP	Laser-evoked potential
MEG	Magnetoencephalography
MI	Primary motor cortex
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MDvc	Ventral caudal part of medial dorsal nucleus
NRS	Numerical rating scale
NS	Nociceptive specific
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PPC	Posterior parietal cortex
SI	Primary somatosensory cortex
SII	Secondary somatosensory cortex
SQUID	Superconducting quantum interference device
VAS	Visual analog scale
VBM	Voxel-based morphometry
VMpo	Posterior part of ventral medial nucleus
VP	Ventral posterior nucleus
WDR	Wide dynamic range

# Abstract

Acute pain serves as a warning sign for protective purposes in the everyday environment and therefore has substantial survival value. Chronic pain, however, lacks survival and adaptive functions, causes a great amount of individual suffering, and consumes the resources of the society through treatment costs and loss of production. The treatment of chronic pain remains challenging because of an inadequate understanding of mechanisms working at different levels of the nervous system in the development, modulation, and maintenance of chronic pain. Especially in chronic pain conditions, in which the aetiology and the pathophysiology are not understood, the treatment may be suboptimal because it can not be targeted to underlying mechanisms.

Noninvasive neuroimaging techniques have contributed to our understanding of brain activity associated with pain. Many previous studies have focused on brain activations to acute experimental pain in healthy individuals, and have consistently demonstrated a widely-distributed network of brain regions that participate in the processing of acute pain. The aim of the present thesis was to employ noninvasive brain imaging methods to better understand the brain mechanisms in patients with chronic pain.

In Study I, we used magnetoencephalography (MEG) to measure cortical responses to painful laser stimulation in healthy individuals for optimization of the stimulus parameters for patient studies. In Studies II and III, we monitored with MEG the cortical processing of touch and acute pain in patients with complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS). We found persisting plastic changes in hand representation area of the primary somatosensory (SI) cortex and attenuated responses in the posterior parietal cortex to both tactile and painful laser stimulation. The primary motor cortex reactivity to acute pain was reduced in patients, and the reactivity correlated with the grip strength and correlated inversely with the amount of ongoing spontaneous pain in the painful hand, suggesting tight coupling between central motor dysfunction and chronic pain in CRPS. In Studies IV and V, we used MEG and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to investigate patients

who suffered from recurrent herpes simplex virus infections and from chronic widespread pain in one side of the body. With MEG, we found plastic changes in the SI cortex, suggesting that different types of chronic pain may be associated with similar cortical reorganization. With fMRI, we found functional and morphological changes in the central pain circuitry, suggesting central contribution for the pain.

The results show that chronic pain is associated with morphological and functional changes in the brain. Objective measurement of such changes with functional imaging may aid in the diagnosis and therapy of chronic pain conditions.

# List of publications

This thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to by roman numerals.

I Raij TT, Vartiainen NV, Jousmäki V, Hari R: Effects of interstimulus interval on cortical responses to painful laser stimulation. *J Clin Neurophysiol* 2003, 20: 73–79.

**II Vartiainen NV**, Kirveskari E, Forss N: Central processing of tactile and nociceptive stimuli in complex regional pain syndrome. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2008, 119: 2380–2388.

**III** Kirveskari E, **Vartiainen NV**, Gockel M, Forss N: Motor cortex dysfunction in complex regional pain syndrome. *Clin Neurophysiol*, under revision.

**IV Vartiainen NV**, Kirveskari E, Kallio-Laine K, Kalso E, Forss, N: Cortical reorganization in primary somatosensory cortex in patients with unilateral chronic pain. *J Pain* 2009, 10: 854–859.

**V Vartiainen NV**, Kallio-Laine K, Hlushchuk Y, Kirveskari E, Seppänen M, Autti H, Jousmäki V, Forss N, Kalso E, Hari R: Changes in brain function and morphology in patients with recurring herpes simplex virus infections and chronic pain. *Pain* 2009, 144: 200–208.

Publication I was previously used in the thesis of Tuukka Raij in 2005.

# 1. Introduction

The survival of an organism depends essentially on its ability to perceive pain. Individuals born without the ability to feel pain are vulnerable to life-threatening injuries from the beginning of their lives, because severe damage, such as cuts, fractures, and burns may go unnoticed (Nagasako et al., 2003). In healthy individuals, acute pain is a warning sign that protects against tissue damage in everyday environments. After injury, a decrease of pain threshold and increased responsiveness in the injured area work as motivators that facilitate protective behaviour, until the tissue heals. For example, ongoing pain and tenderness from a sprained ankle motivates for reduced weight bearing and protection, and thereby enhances healing and survival. This hypersensitivity is an expression of temporary and adaptive neural plasticity.

Chronic pain, on the other hand, is maladaptive and reflects pathological changes in the function of the nervous system. It serves no useful purpose from an evolutionary perspective, does not adapt the organism to the environment, and does not lead to performance that enhances survival. Chronic pain causes a considerable negative impact on the individual and society. In 2003, the socioeconomic estimated costs of chronic pain were e.g. in the 9-million-inhabitant Sweden about 8.9 billion  $\in$  (SEK 87.5 billion). Care-related costs accounted for 0.8 billion  $\notin$  whereas indirect costs due to loss of production attributed to sick leave accounted for 8.1 billion  $\notin$  (Lundberg, 2006).

Treatment of chronic pain remains difficult, and this stems partially from the insufficient understanding of neural mechanisms in the development and maintenance of chronic pain. Even in the perception of acute pain, nociceptive signals produced by harmful stimuli are modulated by complex anti- and pronociceptive activities at all levels of the neuraxis. This modulation is driven also by affective and cognitive factors, such as the state of mind, expectations, previous experiences, mood, attention, and context. In chronic pain, the complexity of such modulation is probably even more profound. When the aetiology and the pathophysiology of chronic pain are unknown, no mechanismbased treatment is available. Furthermore, unknown aetiology increases the psychological stress, uncertainty, and suffering in the patients, as well as confusion in the physicians trying to treat them. Distinct neural mechanisms may be underlying some chronic pain conditions and therefore better knowledge of these mechanisms could help to develop more rational therapy for chronic pain. However, objective measurement of neural activity related to the complex and highly subjective experience of pain is challenging.

Noninvasive brain imaging has emerged as a tool for the investigation of neural function in healthy individuals and in neurological and psychiatric diseases. Acute pain processing in healthy individuals has been extensively studied with these methods, and there is now increasing enthusiasm for studying neural activity in patients with chronic pain conditions.

The present thesis aims to increase knowledge of pain processing in the central nervous system in patient groups suffering from chronic pain with an unclear origin. In patients suffering from complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), we used magnetoencephalography (MEG) to follow the cortical processing of tactile and nociceptive stimuli. In patients suffering from recurrent herpes simplex virus (HSV) infections and from chronic pain, we used MEG to study cortical plasticity and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to study the central processing of touch and pain to reveal possible central nervous system alterations in these patients.

# 2. Background

# 2.1 Anatomy and physiology of pain pathways

Damaging stimuli activate the peripheral free nerve endings, the nociceptors. The noxious signals from the periphery are transmitted to the central nervous system by the pain pathways, a process referred to as nociception. The experience of pain is normally generated on the basis of noxious input but it is also strongly modulated by affective and cognitive aspects. The subjective experience of pain may exist even in the absence of noxious input, but typically these two are highly correlated. The anatomy and the physiology of the pain pathways are presented below, based on recent reviews (Bromm and Lorenz, 1998; Treede et al., 1999; Schnitzler and Ploner, 2000; Millan, 2002; Craig, 2003; Vogt, 2005; Dostrowsky and Craig, 2006).

# 2.1.1 Nociceptors and peripheral pathways

Nociceptors are peripheral free nerve endings, which transduct noxious or potentially noxious stimuli, such as mechanical, thermal and chemical stimuli to action potentials that are sent to the central nervous system along the nociceptive nerve fibres. Nociceptors are widespread in the peripheral tissues, including skin, muscle, joints, and viscera. The noxious signals are transmitted via thinly myelinated Aδ-fibres and unmyelinated C-fibres. The density of the C-fibres in the human skin is assumed higher than that of Aδ-fibres (Bragard et al., 1996). The conduction velocity of Aδ-fibres is around 5–30 m/s and they signal sharp pain from heat and from sharp mechanical stimuli (Konietzny et al., 1981), whereas the conduction velocity of C-fibres is around 0.5–2 m/s and they signal burning pain from heat stimuli and pain from intense pressure (Ochoa and Torebjörk, 1989). Both fibre types signal pain from chemical stimuli. Aδ-fibres are further divided to type I, which are

found in the hairy and glaborous skin, and type II, which are found in hairy skin only. Most of the Cnociceptors respond to several types of noxious stimuli and are therefore termed polymodal nociceptors (Perl, 1996).

About half of the A $\delta$ -fibres and one third of C-fibres are silent nociceptors, which have very high mechanical thresholds (Meyer et al., 1991). The silent C-fibres are different from the conventional polymodal nociceptors, and they often become responsive to mechanical stimuli in inflamed skin and may therefore be the underlying mechanism for primary mechanical hyperalgesia (Schmidt et al., 1995). The cell bodies of the nociceptive fibres are in the dorsal root ganglia, and the nociceptive fibres terminate in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord or in the trigeminal ganglia in the head area.

### 2.1.2 Dorsal horn and spinal cord

In the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, the first-order nociceptive neurons synapse with projection neurons that ascend towards more central structures (see Figure 1). The peripheral Aδ-fibres terminate in the most superficial layer of the dorsal horn, the lamina I, which receives the major input of the all nociceptive fibres, and in the lamina V. The peripheral C-fibres terminate in lamina I and send polysynaptic input to lamina V neurons. Large-diameter myelinated Aβ-fibres, transmitting mechanoreceptive and proprioceptive input also terminate at the lamina V neurons. Therefore the superficial lamina I receives more specific nociceptive input, whereas the lamina V input represents integration of all afferent input.

In the lamina I of dorsal horn, two nociceptive cell types of the spinothalamic tract can be distinguished: nociceptive specific (NS) cells, which receive predominantly A $\delta$ -fibre input, and polymodal nociceptive (sensitive for heat, pinch, cold), which receive mainly C-fibre input. In

addition to nociceptive cell types, lamina I also contains non-nociceptive cells that receive modalityspecific small-diameter cell input related to e.g. thermoreception and itch (Craig and Andrew, 2002).



Figure 1. Dorsal horn of spinal cord and nociceptive afferent fibres terminating to projection neurons in laminae I–V. Adapted from Craig (2003) with permission.

Lamina V is composed mostly of wide dynamic range (WDR) cells. They have large receptive fields and receive input both from tactile and nociceptive afferents. As a population, their activity represents the integration of all afferent input to the dorsal horn.

The spinothalamic tract that projects from the spinal cord to the thalamus is most closely associated with pain and temperature, and it has been known for decades that lesions of this tract results in the loss of these sensations. Almost half of the spinothalamic tract cells are from lamina I and one quarter from laminae IV–VI. Some cells are located in deeper laminae and in the ventral horn. The ascending axons cross the midline at a level near the cell bodies and continue in the spinothalamic tract in anterior and lateral segments. The anterior part contains mainly lamina V neurons, and the lateral part contains mainly lamina I neurons.

Recently, monitoring pain-related neural activity in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord has been accomplished noninvasively using fMRI (Lilja et al., 2006).

## 2.1.3 Ascending nociceptive projections to thalamus and brainstem

Nociceptive information is transmitted from the spinal cord to the brain through several ascending pathways, the main pathway being the spinothalamic tract. The main projection sites of the spinothalamic tract in the thalamus are the ventral posterior (VP) nuclei, the posterior part of the ventral medial nucleus (VMpo), the ventral caudal part of the medial dorsal nucleus (MDcv), the ventral lateral nucleus, the central lateral nucleus, and the parafascicular nucleus (Dostrowsky and Craig, 2006). The nociceptive specific lamina I pathways project to the VP nuclei, VMpo, and MDvc. Lamina V pathways project to VP nuclei, ventral lateral nucleus, and central lateral nucleus (see Figure 2). The lateral and medial VP nuclei are the main somatosensory nuclei of the thalamus and receive-in addition to nociceptive input-mechanoreceptive and proprioceptive input through the dorsal column medial lemniscus pathways. Using microelectrodes, activity of nociceptive neurons in the human VP nucleus has been recorded, and microstimulation of this area has been shown to evoke pain (Lenz and Dougherty, 1997). In addition, lesion of this structure may lead to central pain (Montes et al., 2005). However, most of the nociceptive information of the spinothalamic tract is conveyed to the cortex through other nuclei (such as VMpo), as the cortical laser-evoked responses were only moderately (33%) attenuated in a patient with a VP lesion (Montes et al., 2005). Interestingly, in patients with central post-stroke pain, incidence of pain evoked by microstimulation of VP nucleus was increased (Davis et al., 1996).

The important functions of the thalamus, in addition to processing noxious information, include processing and relaying both sensory and motor information. Thalamus also takes part in cognitive functions, such as language and memory, and it regulates arousal. Thalamic nuclei project

to one or few cortical areas, which in turn send back information to different thalamic nuclei, forming thalamo-cortico-thalamic circuits (Herrero et al., 2002).

In addition to thalamic targets, nociceptive information is conveyed to numerous homeostatic sites in the brainstem. Catecholiaminergic cell groups in the brainstem receive input from lamina I cells (Westlund and Craig, 1996). These cell groups include regions in the ventrolateral medulla, the nucleus of solitary tract, the locus coeruleus, and regions in the dorsolateral pons. They integrate cardiorespiratory and homeostatic function and have pain-modulatory functions. For example, the cell groups in the ventrolateral medulla and in the dorsolateral pons are involved in descending pro-and antinociceptive modulation.



Figure 2. Ascending tracts of lamina I cells (left) and lamina IV–V cells (right) in macaque monkey. MDvc = ventral caudal part of medial dorsal nucleus, VPI = ventroposterior inferior nucleus, VPL = ventroposterior lateral nucleus, VMpo = posterior part of ventral medial nucleus, CL = central lateral nucleus, SI = primary somatosensory cortex, SII = secondary somatosensory cortex, STT = spinothalamic tract. Adapted from Craig (2006) with permission from Elsevier.

Parabrachial nucleus receives spinal input mainly from lamina I cells, and it is connected with the reticular formation of the brainstem (Craig, 1995). Parabrachial nucleus projects to hypothalamus, amygdala, and thalamus, and is thought to integrate nociceptive activity with the homeostatic and autonomic activity.

The periaqueductal gray has a dual role in aversive behaviour and in endogenous analgesia. It receives input primarily from lamina I cells. The closely situated pretectal nuclei have been proposed to have a role in endogenous analgesia, because stimulation of this area produces analgesia (Rees and Roberts, 1993).

The reticular formation receives input through the spinoreticular tract, which consists of neurons in laminae VII and VIII (Kevetter et al., 1982). Many of these neurons respond to stimuli presented to either side of the body and they could therefore contribute to the diffuse nature of many pain conditions.

Traditionally, the nociceptive system has been divided to lateral and medial systems. The lateral pain system has been assumed to serve the sensory-discriminatory aspect of pain processing, whereas the medial system is involved in the cognitive-evaluative, motor, and emotional components of pain. The cortical components of the lateral pain system include the primary and secondary somatosensory (SI and SII) cortices, and the posterior insula, and the corresponding regions of medial system include the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and prefrontal cortex (PFC). This division probably oversimplifies the actual picture as separate dimensions of the pain experience probably are not represented by single brain regions.

### 2.1.4 Central structures

#### Insula

Anterograde tracing of thalamocortical projections in primates indicates that thalamic nucleus VMpo projects to the posterior insular cortex (IC) (Craig, 2002). Accordingly, electrical stimulation of the posterior IC elicited pain in patients who were undergoing evaluation for the surgical treatment of epilepsy (Ostrowsky et al., 2002; Mazzola et al., 2006). The posterior IC and the closely situated SII cortex are the only cortical regions where electrical stimulation has been shown to elicit pain (Mazzola et al., 2006). Intracranial recordings showed that the posterior IC did not activate to non-painful stimuli but encoded stimulus intensity at painful levels (Frot et al., 2007). The role of posterior IC in the basic sensory aspects of pain is further supported by the sensitivity to the laterality of the stimulation and the somatotopic arrangement of body parts in the posterior IC (Brooks et al., 2002; Bingel et al., 2003; Brooks et al., 2005).

In human brain imaging studies of pain, IC is one of the most consistently activated cortical areas (Peyron et al., 2000; Treede et al., 2000; Apkarian et al., 2005) and it has been thought to be involved in the affective dimension of pain. This is in line with insular damage causing an inadequate emotional response to pain (Berthier et al., 1988). Typically in imaging studies, the activation is spatially extensive, spanning from anterior to posterior IC. Functional segregation of the subregions of the insula has recently been suggested (Schweinhardt et al., 2006a). Clinical pain in patients, with its greater affective component, was associated with activity in the rostral anterior IC, whereas the intensity of experimental (or allodynic) pain was coded by caudal anterior IC (Schweinhardt et al., 2006a).

Insula appears to be a major integration site for interceptive information from the body (Craig, 2002). As the IC also has extensive anatomical connections to limbic structures, it is well suited associate sensory information with emotional responses (Mesulam and Mufson, 1982).

#### **Cingulate cortex**

The cingulate cortex belongs to the phylogenetically old limbic system. Nociceptive neurons have been demonstrated in the rabbit ACC; these neurons had large receptive fields and responded to noxious stimulation anywhere in the body (Sikes and Vogt, 1992). Nociceptive neurons have been shown also in the human ACC (Hutchison et al., 1999). Thalamic projections to the Brodmann's area 24 have been demonstrated from thalamic midline, intralaminar (central lateral and parafascicular), and MDvc nuclei (Vogt, 2005). The ACC is one of the most commonly activated areas in brain imaging studies of pain processing (Peyron et al., 2000; Apkarian et al., 2005), and it has been assumed to mediate affective responses to noxious stimuli. The blood-flow based imaging methods show consistent activation in the ACC, but the exact activation areas inside the CC are variable. Activity of the dorsal ACC correlated with the subjective unpleasantness of pain during hypnosis, even while the stimulation energy was the same, and therefore the ACC has been suggested to encode the affective dimension of pain (Rainville et al., 1997). The ACC activity has also been shown to correlate with stimulus energy of experimental pain (Coghill et al., 1999). Büchel et al. (2002) showed several pain-related activation areas in the ACC; the perigenual and posterior ACC coded stimulus intensity and pain, whereas the anterior portion of the ACC showed signal changes related to working memory and attention. Attention-related activation in the anterior ACC has also been observed in single-cell recordings (Davis et al., 2000). Moreover, the ACC has been implicated in motor planning and response selection, attentional orienting, and cognitive control.

Recent subdivision of the CC on cytoarchitectural basis suggests a four-region model including ACC, midcingulate cortex (MCC), posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), and retrosplenial cortex (Vogt, 2005). In this model, the ACC is implicated in emotional and autonomic processing, the MCC is

involved in response selection, and PCC in visuospatial orientation. The role for the posterior MCC in attentional orienting and motor withdrawal is supported by recent intracranial recordings that showed early (120 ms) responses from this area in response to acute laser pain (Frot et al., 2008).

#### Somatosensory cortices

Single-cell recordings in awake monkeys have demonstrated SI cortex neurons responding in an intensity-correlated manner to noxious stimuli (Kenshalo et al., 1988), suggesting that the nociceptive SI neurons encode the sensory-discriminative component of pain. Accordingly, the loss of discriminative pain sensation (without loss of pain affect) was attributed to a large lesion involving both SI and SII (Ploner et al., 1999a). SI receives input from thalamic lateral and medial VP nuclei, and the SII receives input from inferior VP nucleus. The thalamic nucleus VMpo, which receives almost exclusively spinothalamic lamina I input, has been suggested to project to area 3a in the central sulcus.

The role of the SI cortex in response to acute selectively noxious stimulation has been debated: about half of the studies in a meta-analysis showed no SI activation while the other half did (Peyron et al., 2000). This discrepancy has been explained with different stimulation methods and possible different excitatory and inhibitory effects of pain on SI neurons, which could result in different hemodynamic responses (Peyron et al., 2000; Schnitzler and Ploner, 2000). Pain-related cerebral blood flow increases were somatotopically organized in the SI region (Andersson et al., 1997). According to optical imaging data, area 3a is activated in response to heat pain, probably via thalamic nucleus VMpo (Tommerdahl et al., 1996). In fMRI studies that used nociceptive-specific thulium-laser stimuli, SI has been shown to be involved in coding the side and the intensity of the stimulation (Bornhövd et al., 2002; Bingel et al., 2003). Further, somatotopic representations to such stimuli were demonstrated in SI and in SII (Bingel et al., 2004). Using MEG, several groups have

localized activations in response to painful laser stimulation to SI (Kanda et al., 2000; Ploner et al., 2000; Timmermann et al., 2001), whereas others have localized these activations significantly medial and posterior to area SI, possibly to posterior parietal cortex (PPC) (Forss et al., 2004). It is probable that both the SI and the PPC are activated in response to noxious stimulation (Nakata et al., 2008).

The SII cortices are the first cortical areas activated in response to noxious stimulation in electroencephalography (EEG) and MEG studies (Treede et al., 2000). Intracranial recordings and MEG recordings have demonstrated that the SII cortex encodes stimulus intensity from innocuous to painful level, but shows ceiling effect for higher intensity (Timmermann et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2006; Frot et al., 2007). It was therefore suggested that the SII is involved in recognizing the noxious nature of stimuli. The SII cortex is bilaterally activated also in response to innocuous tactile stimuli and is assumed to be involved in object recognition and integration of sensory input from the two body halves (Simões et al., 2001). The human SII cortex is divided into four cytoarchitectonic areas. A meta-analysis indicated that pain-related activations were clustered in one subarea, whereas activations related to non-painful somatosensory stimulation were found slightly more anteriorly (Eickhoff et al., 2006a; Eickhoff et al., 2006b). Selective SI and SII lesions caused impaired ability to localize painful stimuli and to recognize the stimuli as painful, suggesting that the somatosensory cortices are involved in the sensory-discriminative processing of pain (Ploner et al., 1999a). This is supported by earlier findings of tactile and nociceptive perception deficits when tumour was pressing parietal operculum and elevated pain thresholds in patients with lesions involving the parietal operculum (Greenspan and Winfield, 1992; Greenspan et al., 1999).

#### 2.1.5 Descending and modulatory projections

The pain pathways are under the influence of top-down regulation from hierarchically higher levels. Many supraspinal regions give rise to pathways that monosynaptically descend to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord and may have either inhibitory or facilitatory effects. These include the hypothalamus, parabrachial nucleus, nucleus of the solitary tract, rostral ventral medulla, and periaqueductal grey (Millan, 2002). Pharmacological and electrical stimulation of these areas in animal studies has been shown to modulate nociception, either by direct or indirect spinal projections (Willis and Westlund, 1997; Jasmin et al., 2003). The activity of the descending pathways from rostral ventral medulla is primarily modified by the periaqueductal grey and other regions.

New imaging methods have contributed to our understanding of these modulatory mechanisms in humans and have shown that forebrain structures such as rostral ACC and PFC are important in pain modulation (Bingel et al., 2007). Rostral ACC covaried with brainstem activity during both placebo and opioid analgesia, and during distraction task (Petrovic et al., 2002; Valet et al., 2004), suggesting that the connectivity of these areas is important for pain modulation. Further, placebo analgesia was associated with PFC activity during anticipation of pain (Wager et al., 2004). This might have also clinical implications, as in Alzheimer patients, the placebo component of analgesic treatment was reduced, indicating the importance of frontal cortex function in the modulation of pain (Benedetti et al., 2006). The interplay between these cortical and brainstem areas related to pain modulation may be important factor in the development of various chronic pain conditions.

### 2.1.6 Pain and the central motor system

The effect of pain on motor functions is evident in everyday life, as pain impairs and limits motor performance. Studies in healthy subjects have shown that thermal pain activates the primary motor cortex (MI) (Casey et al., 1996; Gelnar et al., 1999). The tight coupling between the central

motor system and pain is further supported by the observation that MI stimulation alleviates chronic pain (Tsubokawa et al., 1991; Garcia-Larrea and Peyron, 2007).

One way to monitor the functional state of the MI is to measure the 20-Hz component of spontaneous oscillatory activity, which is thought to originate mainly in the MI on the basis of intracranial and MEG recordings (Jasper, 1949; Salmelin and Hari, 1994; Salenius and Hari, 2003). Suppression of the 20-Hz rhythm is assumed to reflect excitation and the subsequent rebound is thought to reflect inhibition of the MI. A prior study with healthy subjects showed that the motor cortex 20-Hz rhythm is modulated by painful laser stimuli, possibly for preparation of voluntary movements (Raij et al., 2004), Further, in CRPS patients who had chronic pain in their upper extremity, reactivity of the 20-Hz motor cortex rhythm to tactile stimuli was decreased indicating modified inhibition of the motor cortex (Juottonen et al., 2002).

# 2.2 Chronic pain

The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) defines chronic pain as "pain without apparent biological value that has persisted beyond the normal tissue healing time" (usually more than three months). This definition is based on the duration of the pain, and it does not depend on the pain aetiology. Chronic pain can be nociceptive, neuropathic, or neither (i.e., pain occurs without known somatic background). Neuropathic pain was originally defined by IASP as "pain initiated or caused by primary lesion or dysfunction in the nervous system" (Merskey, 1994), and recently by an expert group as "pain arising as a direct consequence of a lesion or disease affecting the somatosensory system" (Treede et al., 2008). Neuropathic pain can arise from damage to the nerve pathways at any point from the terminals of the peripheral nerves to the cortical neurons in the brain. It is anatomically classified as central (originating from damage in brain or in spinal cord) or peripheral (originating from damage in peripheral nerves). Examples of peripheral neuropathic pain

are posttraumatic pain after mechanical nerve lesion, painful diabetic neuropathy, and postherpetic neuralgia. Central pain is most commonly caused by stroke, spinal cord injury, and multiple sclerosis (Andersen et al., 1995). The term neurogenic pain is defined by IASP as "*pain initiated or caused by a primary lesion, dysfunction, or transitory perturbation in the peripheral or central nervous system*" (Merskey, 1994), and it refers to neuropathic pain with full clinical recovery.



Figure 3. Pain terms. Nociceptive pain can be considered to include normal pain and inflammatory pain (with peripheral and possibly central sensitization). Alternatively, inflammatory pain can be grouped with neuropathic pain under pathophysiologic pain, as changes in pain transmitting system, caused by tissue or nerve pathology, are involved in both. Adapted from Devor (2006) with permission from Elsevier.

Nociceptive pain is usually considered as "normal", physiological pain. For example when a toe is accidentally hit with a corner of a door, the painful experience matches the mechanical noxious stimulus. Typically minor injuries, such as sprains, burns, and infections, lead to inflammatory reaction, local release of inflammatory mediators, and sensitization of peripheral nociceptors. The resulting symptoms, ongoing pain and hyperalgesia, are adaptive as long as they disappear as the injury heals; temporary hyperresponsiveness enhances survival by protecting the injured body part. Even these physiological forms of pain may induce neuroplastic changes in the central nervous

system leading to hyperalgesia and allodynia (Treede et al., 2008). Neuropathic pain, on the other hand, is a sign of a pathophysiological process in the nervous system (see Figure 3).

Clinical chronic pain conditions may be a combination of nociceptive, inflammatory, and neuropathic pain. The underlying disease, the mechanism of the pain, and the resulting clinical symptoms form a complex relationship. If disease-modifying treatment is available, it should be applied at the first place (such as joint replacement surgery in osteoarthritis). The treatment of the symptoms should be based on the mechanism of pain, and therefore understanding the mechanism of the pain is important (Scholz and Woolf, 2002).

# 2.3 Complex regional pain syndrome

The first description of CRPS probably originates from about 150 years ago, when Sir Weir Mitchell reported on "Gunshot wounds and other injuries of peripheral nerves" during the American Civil War (Mitchell et al., 1864). After that, the terms "reflex sympathetic dystrophy" and "causalgia" have been used to describe this syndrome. The clinical characteristics of CRPS include sensory, autonomic, and motor symptoms. Sensory symptoms include spontaneous pain, allodynia, and hyperalgesia, but sensory impairment may also occur. Autonomic nervous system symptoms consist of abnormalities in the skin temperature, colour, and sweating. Common examples of motor symptoms are weakness, dystonia, tremor, and clumsiness especially in fine motor skills. In later stages, clinically apparent signs in the affected limb are atrophy and osteoporosis. The disease is typically triggered by an initiating event, such as minor injury or fracture of a limb. CRPS is divided into two types: type II with nerve lesion and type I without apparent nerve lesion. The developing pain is usually found in the extremity, it is disproportionate to the initiating event, and the pain is not restricted to the area of a single peripheral nerve. The initial diagnostic criteria for CRPS were published by Stanton-Hicks and colleagues (1995). As motor dysfunction has been shown to be common symptom in CRPS (Veldman et al., 1993; Harden et al., 1999; Birklein et al., 2000), a subsequent revision of the diagnostic criteria has been proposed to include motor symptoms (Harden et al., 2007). The annual incidence is 26 new cases per 100000, and the condition is more common in women than in men (de Mos et al., 2008). The majority of the patients recover spontaneously, but sometimes CRPS may be very resistant to treatment and has led even to amputations (Lausten-Thomsen and Laursen, 2005).

CRPS has been under intensive research, but it still remains unclear what is the pathogenesis behind CRPS, and why it develops after minor trauma in some patients, but not in others (Birklein and Handwerker, 2001; Jänig and Baron, 2003). Possible explanations for the pathogenesis of CRPS include neurogenic inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, abnormal sympatho-afferent coupling, and small-fibre neuropathy combined with ectopic firing of remaining fibres (Oaklander and Fields, 2009). Recent brain imaging studies have shown cortical reorganization in the central sensory and motor systems of CRPS patients (Juottonen et al., 2002; Maihöfner et al., 2007). Such plastic changes have been shown to correlate with the clinical symptoms, such as intensity of pain and tactile discrimination, and with the spread of the pain from its original location (Maihöfner et al., 2003; Forss et al., 2005a; Pleger et al., 2006). Interestingly, decreased pain intensity due to rehabilitation was accompanied by normalization of plastic changes and tactile discrimination ability (Pleger et al., 2005). As the underlying pathophysiology of this condition is still unknown and the treatment options remain limited, functional brain imaging studies could help to understand the possible pathophysiological mechanism and help to develop tailored treatment.

# 2.4 Herpes simplex virus infections and chronic pain

HSVs are common pathogens. In the general population, 16% of adults have antibodies against HSV-2 and 70% against HSV-1 (Arvaja et al., 1999). The primary targets of the virus are the sensory

neurons, where the virus can remain latent. During reactivation of the virus, the most common affected areas are the skin and mucosal membranes (Whitley and Roizman, 2001). More severe complications include encephalitis and meningitis. Interesting characteristics of the virus include its ability to invade neural cells and its preference to certain brain areas (Davis and Johnson, 1979).

HSV infections are known to cause transient neuralgia in the trigeminal, cervical, and sacral areas, and also chronic neuropathic pain has been described in the sacral (Haanpää and Paavonen, 2004) and in trigeminal (Gonzales, 1992) dermatomes.

Recently, Kallio-Laine and colleagues described a novel patient group who were suffering from recurrent HSV infections due to subtle immunological abnormalities and from chronic spontaneous pain in one side of the body (Kallio-Laine et al., 2008). The authors suggested that the patients were suffering from central neuropathic pain caused by infections and latent HSV in the brain.

# 2.5 Brain imaging in acute and chronic pain

Brain activity associated with pain has been studied in human subjects with multiple brain imaging methods, which either directly or indirectly reflect neural activity. With EEG, MEG, positron emission tomography (PET), and fMRI, a widely distributed network of brain areas has been shown to be activated during pain. The majority of studies have focused on brain activity in healthy individuals elicited by stimulation of peripheral nociceptors with various experimental noxious stimuli, and have demonstrated activations most commonly in SI, SII, ACC, IC, PFC, thalamus, and cerebellum. The different brain areas are thought to reflect the different dimensions of the pain experience, as measured by their activation strengths or correlated activity with other brain regions. To date, possible existence of region devoted solely on processing of pain remains to be demonstrated. In contrast, a highly distributed network of brain regions appears to be involved in the generation of the pain percept. In addition, intracranial recordings and microneurographic recordings from peripheral nerves have increased our understanding concerning the relationship between neural activity and subjective perception of pain.

The brain activation patterns in response to identical experimental painful stimuli have been compared between patients suffering from various pain conditions and control subjects. Early PET studies showed reduced responses to thermal pain in the ACC of (small groups of) patients suffering from postsurgical pain and from rheumatoid arthritis, but responses were increased in atypical face pain patients (Derbyshire et al., 1994; Jones and Derbyshire, 1997; Derbyshire et al., 1999). However, in larger groups of patients suffering from non-specific low back pain, the responses did not differ from those of control subjects (Derbyshire et al., 2002). The finding was later replicated with fMRI, suggesting that acute pain processing in many chronic pain conditions is not different from that of the healthy controls (Baliki et al., 2006). A recent meta-analysis suggested that prefrontal activation was observed more often in patients with clinical pain than in healthy individuals receiving experimental pain (Apkarian et al., 2005). In this study, the clinical pain referred to constant pain experienced by the patient, or to abnormal evoked sensations, such as hyperalgesia or allodynia. However, brain imaging studies of acute experimental pain in chronic pain patients remains inconclusive, probably because the studied patient populations have varied a lot in pain distribution, history, etiology, and related psychological factors (Apkarian et al., 2005; Kupers and Kehlet, 2006).

In a similar way, laser-evoked potentials (LEPs) have been used to study many patient groups suffering from various pain conditions of peripheral, central, and unclear origin (Kakigi et al., 1991; Treede et al., 1991; Gibson et al., 1994; Casey et al., 1996; Hansen et al., 1996; Lorenz et al., 1996; Truini et al., 2003). The conclusion based on several studies was that suppression of LEPs indicates damage of the spinothalamic tract and supports the diagnosis of neuropathic pain (Cruccu et al., 2004).

Another approach in studying chronic pain has been to measure brain activations associated with hyperalgesia and allodynia, because these features are common in various chronic pain conditions, especially in neuropathic pain. Measurement of specific cerebral signatures in different pain mechanisms would be useful for diagnostic purposes. Robust brain activations in key pain processing areas such as IC and ACC were shown in response to mechanical allodynia (Schweinhardt et al., 2006a). Similar changes were observed also in experimental hyperalgesia and allodynia models in healthy individuals (Maihöfner et al., 2004b; Zambreanu et al., 2005). However, in other patient groups, mechanical allodynia elicited no IC or ACC activations (Ducreux et al., 2006; Witting et al., 2006). The contradictory results might reflect the varying degrees of spinothalamic tract and lemniscal tract lesions in different patient groups, as well as the varying degree of ongoing background pain in individual patients (Schweinhardt et al., 2006b).

One of the earliest approaches to study chronic pain was to compare the regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) between patients suffering from ongoing pain and healthy individuals. A decrease of rCBF in the contralateral thalamus was observed in chronic pain conditions including painful mononeuropathy, cancer pain, and posttraumatic pain (Di Piero et al., 1991; Hsieh et al., 1995; Iadarola et al., 1995), suggesting thalamic hypoperfusion in presence of ongoing pain.

More recent studies have examined brain activations with fMRI in patients with ongoing pain but without external painful stimulation. In patients with chronic back pain, the sustained component of the ongoing pain was associated with activity of the medial PFC, whereas the increasing component of pain was associated with activity in IC and other regions involved in acute pain (Baliki et al., 2006). Chronic ongoing pain has also been shown to disrupt the default mode network (Baliki et al., 2008; Cauda et al., 2009). Studying the spontaneous brain activity appears fruitful line of research; we (Malinen S, Vartiainen N, Hlushchuk Y, Koskinen M, Ramkumar P, Forss N, Kalso E, Hari R, unpublished data) have recently found higher-frequency oscillations and altered connectivity of IC in patients with ongoing pain.

## 2.6 Brain imaging methods

The studies in this thesis were conducted with two complementary brain imaging methods, MEG and fMRI. These two noninvasive techniques open a window to the living human brain for observation of the electric activity on a millisecond timescale (Hämäläinen et al., 1993; Hari and Forss, 1999) and hemodynamic activity with spatial accuracy of millimetre scale.

# 2.6.1 Magnetoencephalography and electroencephalography

Neural electric activity in the brain produces weak magnetic fields that can be measured outside the head with sophisticated MEG instruments. The synaptic activation in the apical dendrites of the pyramidal cells in the cortex results in postsynaptic intracellular currents. These currents are extremely small, but as they last tens of milliseconds and therefore summate temporally, and occur simultaneously in tens of thousands of neurons, the resulting magnetic fields are strong enough to be detected outside the head with MEG (Hari, 1990; Murakami and Okada, 2006).

Radially oriented currents in a spherical conductor do not produce measurable magnetic field outside the sphere, because the magnetic fields associated with radial intracellular currents and the simultaneous volume currents cancel out each other. In contrast, magnetic fields associated with currents that are tangential to the surface of the spherical conductor are detectable outside the scalp. About two thirds of the cortex of the human brain is located inside the fissures, and the pyramidal cells are oriented perpendicular to the surface of the cortex. Therefore the cortical sulci are well positioned for their activation to be detected with MEG.

Because the magnetic fields generated by the brain currents are small compared to the static magnetic field of the earth (around eight orders of magnitude smaller) it is best to perform MEG

measurements inside a magnetically shielded room. The extreme sensitivity of the MEG method is based on Superconducting Quantum Interference Device (SQUID) sensors that are immersed in liquid helium at a temperature of –269 °C to maintain them in superconducting state. Our MEG device has triple sensor elements, each containing two orthogonal planar gradiometers and one magnetometer (Vectorview<sup>TM</sup>, Neuromag Ltd., Helsinki, Finland). Pickup coils of the sensors convert the magnetic flux into electric current in a way that depends from the configuration of the coil. The planar gradiometers are figure-of-eight shaped coils that give maximum signal over the area with the strongest magnetic field gradient, whereas the magnetometers are loop-shaped coils that give the maximum signal over the maxima or minima of the magnetic field. They are more sensitive to deep sources than are the gradiometers, but the trade-off is increased sensitivity to external noise (Hari, 1990).

EEG measures electric potentials between scalp electrodes, but primarily reflects the same underlying neuronal activity that is measured with MEG. Whereas the tissues surrounding the brain, the meninges, the skull, and the skin are transparent to the magnetic fields, the electric potentials are smeared by the different conductivities of these tissues (Hämäläinen et al., 1993). However, EEG is more sensitive than MEG to very deep and radially oriented currents (Hari, 2005). Simultaneous MEG and EEG acquisition may be beneficial, because the information acquired with the methods complement each other.

Cortical responses to external stimuli measured with MEG are typically analyzed by averaging single-trial responses to improve the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). The activity that is not time-locked to the stimulus is regarded as noise, the level of which reduces as the number of averaged responses increases. In the analysis of averaged responses, a visual search across gradiometer channels obtains the first guess of time windows and activated areas, because the planar gradiometers show the maximum deflections above the current sources. Most commonly used source model is a point-like current dipole (equivalent current dipole, ECD) that represents the neural activity in the brain

underlying the measured MEG signals. Least-squares fit is employed to find an ECD that explains the magnetic field signals from selected area. A result of the fit is a three dimensional location and direction of current dipole. The head is typically modelled as a conductor sphere, which adequately models the brain and other intracranial tissue. The realistically-shaped conductor model does not bring much improvement when compared with the sphere conductor, except in the frontal areas (Tarkiainen et al., 2003). The inverse problem—solving the electrical activity of the brain underlying the measured magnetic field distribution—has no unique solution, but prior knowledge of anatomy and the physiology of the brain as well as the knowledge about the origin of the MEG signal are exploited to constrain the amount of solutions.

To explain the measured signals as completely as possible, additional ECDs can be introduced, resulting in a multidipole model combining several ECDs. The quality of the model can be evaluated by comparing the explanation predicted by the model and the actual measured signals. Under optimal conditions, the localization accuracy of the ECDs is in the order of millimetres.

The magnetic fields of the brain were first detected with a SQUID magnetometer in 1972 (Cohen, 1972). After the introduction of whole-scalp magnetometers (Ahonen et al., 1992), MEG has been widely applied in studies of human brain function in healthy and diseased brains: the sensory and motor systems, spontaneous oscillatory activity, language processing, action observation, neurological conditions such as stroke, epilepsy, and presurgical patients have been studied with MEG (Hari, 1990; Del Gratta et al., 1999; Hari et al., 2000; Kakigi et al., 2000; Salenius and Hari, 2003; Hari, 2005; Mäkelä et al., 2006; Salmelin and Kujala, 2006; Shibasaki et al., 2007).

Pain-related magnetic fields were recorded for the first time in 1983 when the SII cortex was shown to be activated by noxious dental stimulation (Hari et al., 1983). Later, both nasal CO2 stimulation (Huttunen et al., 1986; Hari et al., 1997) and CO2 laser has been used for painful stimulation in MEG (Kakigi et al., 1995; Watanabe et al., 1998; Kanda et al., 2000). Recently, a thulium laser that specifically stimulates the myelinated A $\delta$ - and unmyelinated C-fibres has been used to study the cortical pain processing in healthy individuals (Ploner et al., 1999b; Ploner et al., 2000; Nakata et al., 2004; Raij et al., 2004; Forss et al., 2005b).

### 2.6.2 Functional magnetic resonance imaging

fMRI is a noninvasive method for mapping brain activity and is based on the phenomenon of nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). Due to their intrinsic properties, hydrogen nuclei in an external magnetic field precess at a frequency that is proportional to the strength of the magnetic field. By varying the external magnetic field in a systematic manner together with using radiofrequency coils to emit electromagnetic energy and to detect the resulting NRM signal, it is possible to generate three-dimensional images of the structures of human body.

The most commonly used method among fMRI techniques is the measurement of blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) signal. This signal is based on the differences of the magnetic properties of oxygenated and deoxygenated haemoglobin (Ogawa et al., 1990). As the neurons are active, the relative amount of oxygenated blood increases and the associated BOLD signal changes can be detected (Ogawa et al., 1990). It has been shown that local field potential amplitude, which reflects the postsynaptic activity, is coupled with the BOLD signal, and therefore it is assumed that the BOLD signal reflects synaptic activity (Logothetis et al., 2001). The main advantage of the fMRI when compared to MEG is the high spatial resolution, in order of millimetres, in both cortical and subcortical areas of the brain. However, due to the sluggishness of the hemodynamic response (around 3–6 secs), the temporal resolution of the fMRI is in the orders of seconds, rather than in milliseconds as with MEG (Aguirre et al., 1998).

The end product of a typical fMRI measurement is a large amount of data consisting of threedimensional arrays of voxels obtained at consecutive time points, which are then subject to several preprocessing steps. The data are corrected for movements by defining parameters for translation and rotation in three dimensions. The spatial smoothing increases the SNR, decreases the interindividual variance, and helps to meet the statistical assumption by making the noise more normally distributed. Normalization of the data to a common template volume is done by applying linear and nonlinear transformations.

In the statistical analysis, the study protocol forms the basis of a general linear model (Friston et al., 1995). This model is subsequently convolved with the hemodynamic response function to account for the delay between the neuronal activation and the hemodynamic response. The time course of the signal is fitted, voxel by voxel, to the model. This results in parameter estimates and error estimates for each modelled condition in each voxel. Statistical parametric maps are calculated by statistically comparing the parameter estimates of different conditions (e.g. pain vs. warm).

Typically, fMRI studies concentrate on task- or stimulus-related activity. The analysis of spontaneous activity has recently gained popularity and this kind of approach, together with datadriven analysis methods, such as independent component analysis (ICA), may have potential in the study of clinical neurological and psychiatric conditions (Fox and Raichle, 2007).

In addition to studying the brain function, magnetic resonance imaging methods can be used to computationally evaluate the brain morphology with a method called voxel based morphometry (VBM) (Ashburner and Friston, 2000). VBM has been used to compare local gray matter concentration in various disorders, such as in schizophrenia and in chronic pain (Apkarian et al., 2004; Glahn et al., 2008).

# 3. Aims of the study

The aim of this thesis was to employ noninvasive brain imaging to better understand the brain mechanisms involved in chronic pain. In two patient groups who were suffering from chronic pain with unclear origin, we investigated the brain activation patterns related to touch and pain and compared these activation patterns to those of healthy individuals. The specific aims were the following:

1. To define optimum interstimulus interval (ISI) to obtain best SNR for laser-evoked cortical responses in a fixed measurement time (Study I).

2. To investigate the cortical processing of touch and acute pain in CRPS patients to better understand the pathophysiological mechanisms of hypersensitivity in these patients (Study II).

3. To study the reactivity of the primary motor cortex to acute pain in CRPS patients to find signs of possible motor cortex dysfunction (Study III).

4. To explore whether patients suffering from recurrent HSV infections and from chronic pain of unclear aetiology show chronic-pain-related cortical reorganization (Study IV).

5. To find evidence for central contribution of pain in patients with recurrent HSV infections and chronic pain by investigating their hemodynamic responses to touch and acute pain (Study V).
# 4. Materials and methods

## 4.1 Subjects

Study	N of patients and healthy subjects	Stimuli	Imaging method
Ι	9 healthy	Laser	MEG and EEG
II	8 CRPS, 9 healthy	Laser, tactile	MEG
III	8 CRPS, 8 healthy	Laser	MEG
IV	8 HSV, 9 healthy	Tactile	MEG
V	8 HSV, 11 healthy	Thermode	fMRI

Table 1. Number of subjects, stimulation type, and brain imaging method in Studies I–V.

## 4.1.1 Healthy subjects

Nine healthy subjects (8 right-handed, 7 men, 2 women, ages 19–37 years, mean 27 years) participated in Study I. Due to excessive eye movements, the data from one subject were excluded. Nine healthy subjects (8 right-handed, 1 ambidextrous, ages 28–57 years, mean 46 years) participated both in Study II and IV, and eight of them in Study III. Eleven healthy subjects (10 right-handed, 1 ambidextrous, 6 men, 5 women, ages 25–46 years, mean 30 years) participated in Study V.

## 4.1.2 Chronic pain patients

Eight CRPS patients (all right-handed females; ages 26–57 years, mean 46 years) participated in Studies II and III. The patients were recruited from Orton Hospital, and a neurologist and a physiatrist had performed clinical examinations of the patients. Because the patients had no evidence of peripheral nerve lesions, the diagnosis of CRPS type 1 was set according to the criteria by IASP (Stanton-Hicks et al., 1995). All patients suffered from continuous spontaneous upper-limb pain that had lasted for 1–9 years. The pain was best described as burning, stabbing, or tearing, and was rated 5–8 on the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS; from 0 to 10). Brush allodynia and fluctuating edema were present in the affected hands in all patients and vasomotor or sudomotor dysfunction in five patients. All patients had decreased grip strength and clumsiness in fine motor skills of the painful hand. To exclude lesions in the peripheral nerves and in the brain, electroneuromyography (ENMG) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) had been performed.

Eight patients (all right-handed, seven females) suffering from recurrent HSV infections and chronic spontaneous unilateral pain participated in Studies IV and V. At the time of the MEG-recordings of Study IV, the ages of the patients were 40–51 years (mean 46 years). The fMRI-measurements took place on average one year later. The patients had spontaneous widespread pain on one side of the body, and the long-term average pain at the time of the MEG-recordings was rated 1–9 on numerical rating scale (NRS, from 0 to 10). The pain had started 3–20 years before the recordings and its intensity fluctuated over time from absent to severe. In three patients, the pain comprised the entire one side of the body, and in five patients, the pain covered at least three of the following areas: the face, trunk, arm, and leg. The patients were seropositive for HSV-1 or HSV-2, and had either active labial or genital herpes (3–12 recurrences per year), or had had recurrent HSV-2 induced meningitis episodes. The patients were a subgroup of the 17 patients described by Kallio-Laine et al. (2008). In six out of eight patients, the pain emerged first in a small area but spread later to wide regions in the ipsilateral body. In five out of eight patients, spontaneous pain worsened during HSV reactivation.

## 4.2 Stimuli

#### 4.2.1 Tactile stimuli

Tactile stimuli were delivered to the fingertips with pneumatic diaphragms (Mertens and Lütkenhöner, 2000). In Studies II and IV, thumbs and little fingers of both hands were stimulated with 1-s ISI in one session, to evaluate the extent of the hand representation area in the SI cortex, and the index fingers of both hands were stimulated with 3-s ISI in another session, to evaluate the amplitude and latency of the SI response. In Study V, index, middle, and ring fingers were stimulated with a varying stimulus onset asynchrony of 200–600 ms in 20-s blocks. The tactile stimulation blocks alternated with equally long rest periods.

### 4.2.2 Thulium-laser stimuli

Experimental acute pain was produced in Studies I, II, and III with thulium laser stimulator (Tm:YAG, Baasel Lasertech, Starnberg, Germany). Studies II and III were based on the same recordings. Short laser pulses (duration 1 ms, wavelength 2000 nm) were conducted with an optic fibre inside to the magnetically shielded room. An assisting person manually delivered the laser beam to the dorsum of the hand. The diameter of the circular laser light spot on the skin was about 5 mm, resulting in a stimulated area of about 20 mm<sup>2</sup>. The laser stimulation elicited a fast pricking pain, often accompanied by a slower burning sensation. The stimulation site was changed between successive pulses within a skin area of about 5 cm<sup>2</sup> to avoid adaptation and burns of the skin. In Study II, the individual pain thresholds before the MEG recordings were individually determined by increasing the stimulus energy until subjects reported pain (VAS = 1). This procedure was repeated three times and the mean stimulus energy obtained was set as the pain threshold. During the measurement, the stimulus energy of 1.4–1.5 times the pain threshold was administered (740 mJ in

control subjects, 520 mJ in patients). Already at this intensity level, the patients experienced severe pain and therefore higher intensity level stimulation was impossible. Additional energy of 1.1 times the pain threshold (540 mJ) was used in control subjects for control purposes. After the stimulation sessions, the subjects evaluated the mean pain intensity.

### 4.2.3 Thermode stimuli

In Study V, thermal pain was produced by two Peltier elements (TSA II, Medoc, Israel). The elements (16 mm x 16 mm) were placed on the hand dorsa. The stimulus temperature increased at 10 °C/s and decreased at 8 °C/s. Prior to experiment, we tested the appropriate stimulation temperature by increasing the stimulus temperature in a step-by-step manner to highest level tolerated by the subject. During the experiment, 10-s thermal stimuli, either painful heat (mean  $\pm$  SEM 47.4  $\pm$  0.2 °C in control subjects, 46.6  $\pm$  0.7 °C in patients) or innocuous warmth (42 °C), were pseudorandomly delivered to each hand with 30-s rest periods (22 °C) in between.

## 4.3 Magnetoencephalographic and electroencephalographic recordings

The MEG and EEG recordings were carried out in the magnetically shielded room in the Brain Research Unit of the Low Temperature Laboratory, Helsinki University of Technology. The cortical responses were recorded with a 306-channel neuromagnetometer (Vectorview<sup>TM</sup>, Neuromag Ltd., Helsinki, Finland). To align the MEG and the MRI coordinate systems, four indicator coils were placed on the scalp and their positions with respect to the anatomical landmarks were measured with a three-dimensional digitizer. The head position in relation to the sensors was determined by measuring the magnetic signals produced by currents led into the indicator coils. During recordings, the subject was sitting with the head supported against the helmet-shaped sensor

array of the magnetometer. The signals were band-pass filtered through 0.03–200 Hz and digitized at 600 Hz. The analysis period was from –200 to 500 ms in Studies I, II, and IV, and from –1000 to 3500 ms in Study III. Altogether 110–120 tactile responses, and 40–50 laser-evoked responses were averaged for each stimulation site. Simultaneously recorded electro-oculograms (EOG) were monitored for rejection of MEG epochs that coincided with excessive eye movements or blinks.

Laser-evoked fields in Studies I and II, and somatosensory evoked fields in Study II were modelled by multiple current dipoles (see 2.6.1). In Study IV, the somatosensory evoked fields measured over the SI cortex were modelled with single dipoles. In Study III, the temporal spectral evolution (TSE) of the level of the motor-cortex 20-Hz rhythm was monitored by first filtering the oscillatory activity through 15–25 Hz, then rectifying, and finally averaging it time-locked to laser stimuli (Salmelin and Hari, 1994; Silén et al., 2000). The channel showing maximum reactivity was chosen, and the suppression, rebound and reactivity of the rhythm were calculated for each subject.

## 4.4 Functional magnetic resonance imaging measurements

The fMRI measurements in Study V were conducted at the Advanced Magnetic Imaging Centre, Helsinki University of Technology with 3.0 T Signa EXCITE scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA). A gradient-echo echo-planar imaging sequence with the following parameters was used: repetition time (TR) 2000 ms, echo time (TE) 32 ms, flip angle (FA) 75°, field of view (FOV) 20 cm, and matrix size 64 x 64. Imaging of the whole brain required 31–33 oblique slices, each 4 mm thick, with no spacing in between. Parameters for the T1-weighted anatomical images, obtained with 3D inversion-pulse prepared spoiled-gradient-recalled (SPGR) acquisition, were the following: TR 9.0–9.2, TE 1.9–2.0, inversion time 300 ms, FA 15°, matrix size 256 x 256, FOV 24 or 26 cm, and slice thickness 1 mm.

The fMRI data were preprocessed with BrainVoyager QX (Brain Innovation, Maastricht, The Netherlands). VBM analysis was conducted with the SPM2 software package (Wellcome Department of Imaging Neuroscience, London, UK, <u>http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm</u>) and Matlab 6.51 (Mathworks, Natick, MA).

## 5. Experiments

## 5.1 Optimising interstimulus interval for cortical laser-evoked responses

Laser-evoked responses have been widely used in the basic research of cortical pain processing and in clinical applications such as in the assessment of the nociceptive pathway function (Bromm and Lorenz, 1998; Spiegel et al., 2000; Cruccu et al., 2004).

For successful use in clinical settings, the SNR of the responses should be maximized by optimizing the stimulus parameters. Increasing the number of averaged responses enhances the SNR as the (stationary) noise decreases in proportion to the square root of the number of averaged responses. In a fixed measurement time, the number of responses can be increased by shortening the ISI. On the other hand, the responses have certain recovery cycles; the amplitude of the response decreases with shortening ISI, whereas it increases with longer ISI to a certain saturation point (Wikström et al., 1996). Further, long-latency responses are known to be sensitive to changes of attention (Garcia-Larrea et al., 1997). Therefore, extensively long measurement session may decrease attention and vigilance and affect the amplitude of the responses.

Although laser-evoked responses are widely in use, their recovery cycles had not been previously systematically studied. The aim of this study was to measure the recovery cycles of LEFs and LEPs to obtain the optimal ISI for best SNR in fixed measurement time.

#### 5.1.1 Results

The laser pulses were described as pricking pain, followed by weaker burning pain. The subjects rated the intensity of the pain significantly lower at the 4-s than at 0.5-s ISI ( $3.6 \pm 0.4$  vs.  $4.4 \pm 0.6$ , p = 0.01; mean  $\pm$  SEM, 0–10 scale), and the lowest intensity rating was obtained with the longest ISI of 16 sec ( $3.1 \pm 0.5$ ).

The laser pulses elicited bilateral activations in all subjects in the SII regions at 150–205 ms and contralateral activation in seven out of eight subjects in the SI region at 160–195 ms. The simultaneously registered LEPs from the derivation Cz–mastoid comprised a surface-negative peak at 190–230 ms and a subsequent surface-positive peak at 310–330 ms.

The MEG responses showed good replicability during the measurement session, but the EEG peak-to-peak potentials decreased 25–54% (p < 0.05) from the beginning to the end of the session.

Increasing the ISI from 0.5 s to 4 s strongly increased the amplitudes of all responses, but further increase had little additional effect. On the basis of the curve fitting, an exponential curve with time constant of 3.5 s best explained the measured recovery cycle of responses. As shown by Ahlfors et al. (1993), the optimal ISI for the best SNR obtained in a fixed measurement time is 1.26 x time constant. Therefore, the optimal ISI for pain-related magnetic and electric responses is around 4–5 s.

#### 5.1.2 Discussion

The results show that the amplitudes of the LEFs and LEPs increase with increasing ISI, and start to saturate after 4-s ISI. Based on the recovery cycles of LEFs and LEPs, the optimum ISI for recording laser-evoked responses in a fixed measurement time is around 4–5 s. Our findings agree with and complement the findings of other groups who have shown amplitude increase of pain-related responses with increasing ISI (Jacobson et al., 1985; Truini et al., 2004).

# 5.2 Responses to tactile and noxious stimulation are altered in complex regional pain syndrome

Patients with CRPS commonly suffer from hyperalgesia and allodynia to external stimulation, in addition to chronic ongoing pain. Prior brain imaging studies in CRPS patients have demonstrated increased cortical activations in SI, SII, IC, and ACC during mechanical hyperalgesia and cortical reorganization of the hand representation area in the SI cortex contralateral to the affected limb (Juottonen et al., 2002; Maihöfner et al., 2003; Pleger et al., 2004; Maihöfner et al., 2005). The amount of reorganizational changes has been shown to correlate with the severity of ongoing pain and with the tactile sensitivity. In CRPS patients in whom the symptoms are alleviated, spontaneously or by therapy, the reorganization appears to be reversible (Maihöfner et al., 2004; Pleger et al., 2005), but it remains unknown whether the cortical reorganization persists when CRPS becomes chronic. We investigated the cortical processing of touch and acute pain in CRPS patients with MEG, to better understand the central mechanisms of hyperesthesia, and to find out whether the plastic changes in the SI cortex are permanent in chronic CRPS patients.

#### 5.2.2 Results

In the patients, the pain thresholds to laser pain were lower than in the control subjects, not only for the painful (p = 0.003) but also for the healthy hand (p = 0.02) (see Figure 4). The laser stimuli of similar energy (520–540 mJ) were rated more painful by the patients than control subjects, both in the painful ( $7.5 \pm 0.7$  vs.  $2.3 \pm 0.3$ , p = 0.005) and healthy hands ( $5.4 \pm 1.0$  vs.  $2.3 \pm 0.3$ , p = 0.05).

The distance between the thumb (D1) and the little finger (D5) representations in SI was smaller for the painful compared with the healthy hand (mean  $\pm$  SEM;  $6 \pm 2$  vs.  $10 \pm 2$  mm, p = 0.02). The mean SI response amplitude to tactile stimulation was 33% stronger (p = 0.05) for the

painful than the healthy hand whereas the SII responses did not differ between the hands. The PPC responses to tactile stimulation were found in only three patients, whereas they were observed in all control subjects.



Figure 4. Pain thresholds (A) and ratings (B) in control subjects (circles) and in CRPS patients (squares). Black/white squares correspond to painful/healthy hands. p < 0.05, p < 0.05.

Figure 5 shows that to painful laser stimulation with similar energy (520–540 mJ), the mean SII cortex activation strength was 12–15 nAm in CRPS patients, and 5–10 nAm in control subjects, but this difference was not statistically significant. The PPC was similarly activated in control subjects and in patients. When the stimulation energies of 1.4–1.5 times the pain threshold were compared (520 mJ in CRPS vs. 740 mJ in control subjects), the SII activation strengths did not differ significantly, but the PPC activation was stronger in control subjects than in patients (controls 13.8  $\pm$  3.5 nAm vs. patients healthy hand 4.0  $\pm$  2.0, p = 0.03; patients painful hand 4.5  $\pm$  3.7, p = 0.09; PPC source was observed in seven control subjects, but only in two CRPS patients to painful

and three to healthy hand stimulation). The PPC activation correlated with the pain rating in the control subjects (r = 0.60, p = 0.01), but such correlation was not observed in the patients.



Figure 5. Source strengths to painful laser stimulation in contra- and ipsilateral somatosensory cortices (SIIc and SIIi) and in posterior parietal cortex (PPC). In control subjects, sources were stronger to 740 mJ than to 540 mJ stimulation (\*p < 0.05). Black/grey = painful/healthy hand.

#### 5.2.3 Discussion

Earlier studies have demonstrated that the cortical reorganization in SI in CRPS patients reversed back to normal, together with the clinical improvement of the symptoms (Maihöfner et al., 2004a; Pleger et al., 2005). The present results show that the D1–D5 distance remains reduced in chronic CRPS patients.

The lowered pain threshold and the elevated perceived pain intensity, not only in the painful but also in the healthy hand, indicate a generally altered perception of pain, rather than hypersensitivity restricted to only one side of body. This result agrees with a previous study which showed that the pain thresholds also in the unaffected limb of CRPS patients tend to be lower than in the control subjects (Kemler et al., 2000).

With similar stimulation energy (520–540 mJ), SII cortices were clearly activated in control subjects and in patients, suggesting that the nociceptive pathways in CRPS patients transmit

noxious impulses from the peripheral A $\delta$ -fibres normally at least to the SII cortex. Because the SII activation was not statistically significantly enhanced in patients compared with control subjects, although the patients experienced more severe pain, it is possible that some other pain-processing area such as ACC or IC, could contribute to the hyperesthesia to pain.

The patients' decreased PPC activation to laser stimulation could be explained by the lower stimulation energy. However, the almost absent PPC activations to tactile stimulation in the patients may indicate malfunction of PPC. This is supported by recent study in CRPS patients, which demonstrated slowed grasping movements of the hand in a kinematic analysis, suggesting disturbed integration of visual and proprioceptive in PPC. In the same study, the motor performance in the patients correlated with PPC activity (Maihöfner et al., 2007).

# 5.3 Motor-cortex reactivity to noxious stimulation is decreased in complex regional pain syndrome

The diagnostic criteria of CRPS have traditionally concentrated on the sensory, autonomic, and trophic features (Stanton-Hicks et al., 1995). Because motor dysfunction is common in CRPS (Veldman et al., 1993; Birklein et al., 2000), revised diagnostic criteria for CRPS have been proposed to include also motor symptoms (Harden et al., 2007). Brain imaging studies in CPRS have demonstrated bilateral disinhibition of the motor cortex and adaptive changes of the central motor circuits (Schwenkreis et al., 2003; Maihöfner et al., 2007). We studied the motor cortex reactivity in response to acute painful stimuli, to clarify the role of possible motor cortex dysfunction and its relationship with clinical symptoms in CRPS patients.

#### 5.3.1 Results

Spectrum of the spontaneous oscillatory activity recorded over the sensorimotor region in both hemispheres during rest with eyes open showed spectral peaks at around 10 and 20 Hz in both patients and control subjects. The mean ( $\pm$  SEM) peak frequency in both groups was 18.8  $\pm$  0.5 Hz, and the amplitudes of these peaks did not differ between the control subjects (10  $\pm$  2 fT/cm and 11  $\pm$  2 fT/cm for right and left hemisphere) and patients (10  $\pm$  2 fT/cm and 11  $\pm$  2 fT/cm for hemispheres contralateral to painful and healthy hand).

The painful laser stimuli elicited clear changes in the level of the 20-Hz rhythm measured over the contralateral MI region (see Figure 6). In the control subjects, the strength of the reactivity (peak-to-peak amplitude measured between suppression and rebound peaks) did not differ between the 740 mJ and 540 mJ energy stimulation, but the suppression peaked earlier to 740 mJ than to 540 mJ stimulation (432 ± 61 ms vs. 757 ± 82 ms p = 0.005). In the CRPS patients, 20-Hz rhythm reactivity in the hemisphere contralateral to the affected hand was attenuated compared with the high and low intensity stimulation in control subjects (4.1 ± 1.5 fT/cm vs. 13.9 ± 3.9 fT/cm; p = 0.04, high; 4.1 ± 1.5 fT/cm vs. 10.2 ± 3.0 fT/cm; p = 0.03, low). The peak latencies of suppression and rebound did not differ significantly between the groups. In the affected hand (r = -0.95, p = 0.0002). Furthermore, the level of reactivity correlated with the grip strength in the affected hand (r = -0.95, p = 0.05).



Figure 6. Grand averages of level of motor-cortex 20-Hz rhythm time-locked to painful laser stimulation in control subjects and in patients. Control subjects were stimulated with two energy levels (740 mJ and 540 mJ) and patients were stimulated with one energy level (520 mJ).

### 5.3.3 Discussion

Our results demonstrate decreased reactivity of the motor-cortex 20-Hz level rhythm in response to acute laser pain in CRPS patients. The suppression of the 20 Hz level oscillations in healthy individuals has been interpreted to reflect excitation or disinhibition of the motor cortex, and the subsequent rebound has been assumed to reflect inhibition (Salmelin and Hari, 1994; Salenius et al., 1997).

The correlation between decreased reactivity and the amount of ongoing spontaneous pain in the affected hand suggests a causal relationship between the ongoing pain in CRPS and the motor cortex reactivity. TMS studies in CRPS patients have indicated disinhibition or hyperexcitability of the motor cortex, either bilaterally or contralaterally to the painful side (Schwenkreis et al., 2003; Eisenberg et al., 2005). However, we did not find increased reactivity to acute pain as a sign of hyperexcitability, but instead decreased reactivity (consisting of decreased suppression and rebound) as a sign of defective interplay between excitation and following inhibition. If under normal circumstances the meaning of the suppression and subsequent rebound of the motor cortex originated 20-Hz rhythm is the preparation of voluntary movements, one could speculate that ongoing pain might lead to exhaustion—or overexcitation—of the motor cortex, so that acute pain does not adequately alarm the motor system.

Interestingly, the reactivity decrease in the motor cortex correlated with the decreased grip strength in the affected hand, suggesting that central motor system dysfunction could partly explain the observed motor deficits in CRPS. This is in line with recent fMRI study showing correlation between the motor cortex activity and motor performance in CRPS patients (Maihöfner et al., 2007).

The results indicate a tight relationship between central motor system dysfunction and clinical symptoms such as ongoing pain and weakness in CRPS. Therapy aimed at normalizing the motor function in CRPS might be beneficial also for the pain symptoms.

# 5.4 Patients with chronic pain and recurrent herpes simplex virus infections show plastic changes in the primary somatosensory cortex

Plastic changes in the SI cortex have been demonstrated in patients suffering from various chronic pain conditions, such as phantom limb pain, CRPS, low-back pain, and painful carpal tunnel syndrome (Flor et al., 1995; Flor et al., 1997; Juottonen et al., 2002; Tecchio et al., 2002). Although the plastic changes have been linked primarily with pain, the influence of reduced afferent input due to peripheral nerve damage or due to lack of use of the limb can not be ruled out. We aimed to clarify, whether cortical reorganization in SI cortex is observed in a patient group who suffered from chronic pain in one side of the body (including the upper limb), but were able to use the painful limb in normal manner and had no signs of peripheral nerve damage.

## 5.4.1 Results

The cortical SI responses to tactile stimulation peaked at the same latency and were equally strong in the control subjects and in the patients (latency:  $58 \pm 1$  ms controls vs.  $57 \pm 2$  painful,  $54 \pm 1$  ms healthy, n.s.; strength: 28.9 nAm controls vs. 23.3 nAm painful, 23.1 nAm healthy, n.s.). These parameters did not differ between the healthy and the painful hands in the patients. Figure 7 shows in two representative HSV patients that the D1–D5 distance in the SI cortex was decreased in the hemisphere contralateral to the painful hand compared to the other hemisphere. At group level, the mean ( $\pm$  SEM) D1–D5 distance in SI was shorter to the stimulation of the painful compared to the healthy hand ( $7 \pm 1$  vs.  $13 \pm 2$  mm, p = 0.04).





Figure 7. Finger representations in SI in two HSV patients. Black symbols correspond to affected and white symbols to healthy hemisphere.

#### 5.4.2 Discussion

The observed decreased D1–D5 distance in SI in HSV patients indicates that cortical plasticity may be a common phenomenon in various chronic pain conditions. Earlier, reorganization has been observed in patients who have reduced afferent input due to nerve trauma or a tendency to immobilize the hand (Flor et al., 1995; Juottonen et al., 2002). Our patients had no indication of peripheral nerve lesions and the pain did not restrict the use of the affected hand. Therefore the influence of reduced proprioceptive input in the development of reorganization is unlikely.

The mechanism of pain-related cortical reorganization is unclear, but it is possible that continuous pain could interfere with the tactile processing and cause cortical changes. It is known that peripheral nerve damage induces extensive neuroplastic changes in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, and similar changes may occur also at supraspinal level (Woolf and Mannion, 1999).

# 5.5 Chronic pain in patients with recurrent herpes simplex virus has a central contribution

Recently an interesting chronic pain patient group was described by Kallio-Laine et al. (2008). The patients suffered from recurrent HSV infections and from unexplained chronic pain widespread in one side of the body. The clinical picture suggested central pain, but direct supporting evidence was lacking. Our aim was to study, with functional and morphological brain imaging, whether the HSV patients have functional or structural abnormalities in the central pain-processing circuits.

#### 5.5.1 Results

Subtle sensory abnormalities were found in the patients. Temperature sensitivity in the hand was lower on the painful side, compared with the healthy side (cold difference 1.4 °C, p = 0.04,

warmth difference 2.1 °C, p = 0.06). The tactile sensitivity was lower on the painful side compared with the healthy side (p = 0.04).

The perceived intensity of painful thermal stimuli (47.4  $\pm$  0.2 °C in control subjects, 46.6  $\pm$  0.7 °C in patients; n.s.) was rated similarly in both groups (6.5  $\pm$  0.5 in control subjects, 6.3  $\pm$  0.6 in patients).

In the control subjects, a well-known network of pain-processing areas was activated in response to thermal pain, including the IC, SII cortices, ACC, PPC, thalamus, striatum, frontal, and prefrontal cortices. In patients, the activations were statistically significantly weaker in the bilateral IC, in ACC, and in thalamus. Moreover, whereas the insular responses in the contralateral hemisphere were symmetric in control subjects to both left- and right-hand stimuli, in patients the responses to healthy hand stimulation were weaker compared to painful hand stimulation (see Figure 8). The responses to tactile stimulation in SI and SII cortices were similar in both groups. Figure 9 shows that the individual touch-related responses in SI and SII cortices were similar in control subjects. VBM demonstrated decreased gray matter density in the frontal and prefrontal areas and in the ACC.



Figure 8. Group level hemodynamic responses to pain (A) and touch (B). Blue traces represent controls and red traces represent patients. Half of patients were flipped along midsagittal axis, normalizing painful side of the body to right.



Figure 9. Response strengths of touch-related responses from contralateral primary and secondary somatosensory (SI and SII) cortices and pain-related responses from contralateral insular cortex (IC).

#### 5.5.2 Discussion

We found functional and structural changes in the central nervous system in patients suffering from chronic pain and from recurrent HSV infections. The areas that are normally activated to acute experimental pain—the IC, ACC, and thalamus—showed reduced responses to acute painful heat, suggesting altered processing of noxious input in these patients. Morphological changes were observed in the frontal and prefrontal areas, which have been associated with chronic pain in earlier VBM and fMRI studies (Apkarian et al., 2004; Baliki et al., 2006).

In the patients, the hemodynamic responses to healthy hand stimulation were reduced compared with the painful hand. Such a reduction could be explained by functional impairment of the nociceptive pathways. An interesting possibility is that recurrent HSV infections have led to functional and structural changes in the brain, giving rise to central pain. This is supported by the known neuroinvasiveness of the HSV, and by its tendency to affect especially temporal and frontal areas. The relationship between HSV and central pain should be studied in future.

An alternative option is that functional and structural changes are secondary to chronic pain, as frontal decrease of gray matter has been observed earlier in brain imaging studies in chronic pain patients (Apkarian et al., 2004).

## 6. General discussion

Functional brain imaging methods are powerful tools for studying the central nervous system mechanisms involved in the development and maintenance of chronic pain. Particularly in chronic pain conditions with unknown aetiology and pathophysiology, functional brain imaging may be used to pinpoint neural dysfunction related to, or underlying the pain. Abnormalities found in the central somatosensory and nociceptive processing could facilitate the mechanism-based diagnosis and therapy for chronic pain.

Measurements of brain responses to external stimuli in patients suffering from chronic pain can be challenging. Using the same stimulus energy in hypersensitive patients and in control subjects may be impossible. The mechanism underlying the pain is difficult to conclude on the basis of the symptoms and the aetiology alone, because of complex relationship between disease process, mechanisms of pain, and clinical symptoms. Brain imaging may be beneficial in clarifying these relationships and be a step towards the mechanism-based treatment of chronic pain.

## 6.1 Primary somatosensory cortex reorganization and chronic pain

Reorganizational changes in SI have been observed in many chronic pain conditions with a wide range of aetiologies, such as phantom limb pain, neuropathic pain, and CRPS (Flor et al., 1995; Flor et al., 1997; Juottonen et al., 2002; Tecchio et al., 2002). The amount of cortical reorganization has been shown to correlate with the intensity of pain, both in the sensory and motor cortices (Flor et al., 1995; Lotze et al., 2001; Maihöfner et al., 2004a). However, the directionality between the cortical plasticity and pain has not been definitely concluded (Flor, 2008). The pain itself could cause cortical plasticity, as it has been shown that acute pain can modify the cortical maps in healthy subjects (Sörös et al., 2001). On the other hand, the process of maladaptive plasticity could

at least partially cause the chronification of the pain. Our finding of similarly decreased D1–D5 distance in the SI contralateral to the painful limb in both HSV and CRPS patients suggests that cortical reorganization can be induced by various chronic pain conditions.

The mechanism of cortical reorganization is unclear. Cortical reorganization may also reflect changes occurring at thalamic or spinal level, as reorganizational changes in phantom limb patients have been demonstrated also in thalamus (Davis et al., 1998). Increased activity of peripheral nociceptors is known to lead to changes in the synaptic structure of the spinal cord (Woolf and Salter, 2006). One possibility is that the continuous pain in our patients could gate somatosensory input at spinal, supraspinal, or cortical level and lead to SI reorganization.

Because our results indicate a tight relationship between chronic pain and cortical reorganization, therapy aimed at normalizing the reorganizational changes in CRPS and in other chronic pain conditions might be beneficial also for the pain symptoms. Cortical reorganization might be an additional measure of chronic pain, and it could be useful in diagnostics and follow-up in chronic pain conditions.

## 6.2 Changes in other cortical areas in chronic pain

LEPs have been widely used in the studies of pain-related cortical processing in healthy subjects and in various neurological patient groups with altered pain perception (Bromm and Lorenz, 1998; Kakigi et al., 2005). The most prominent and the most commonly measured LEP component is the vertex potential N200–P300, which probably is generated predominantly in the ACC (Bromm and Lorenz, 1998; Lenz et al., 1998; Frot et al., 2008). Lesions in the spinothalamic system are associated with attenuated LEPs (Cruccu et al., 2004). We studied the cortical processing of touch and pain in CRPS patients with MEG, because this method is well suited to measure activity from somatosensory cortices (Hari and Forss, 1999).

In our CRPS patients, the SII responses were at least as strong as in the control subjects, when laser stimulation that mainly excites the A $\delta$ -fibres was used, suggesting that the nociceptive pathways conduct impulses from the periphery to the cortical level. Dysfunction of small fibres (A $\delta$ - and C-fibres) has been suggested to be a possible mechanism behind the chronic pain in CRPS (Oaklander and Fields, 2009). Therefore it would be interesting, although technically demanding, to study the C-fibre function in CRPS patients.

The observed attenuated PPC responses to tactile stimulation and the decreased motor cortex reactivity to acute pain might indicate a malfunction of these cortical areas in CRPS. The decrease of the reactivity of the motor cortex correlated with the amount of spontaneous pain, suggesting tight coupling between spontaneous pain and motor cortex dysfunction. It is interesting that the motor cortex reactivity correlated with the grip strength in our patients and that both the motor cortex and PPC activities have been shown to correlate with motor performance in a recent fMRI study (Maihöfner et al., 2007). It is possible that the continuing pain in our CRPS patients could have caused constant excitation state of the motor cortex, so that acute painful stimuli did not cause additional activation. Both the continuous pain as well as the motor cortex malfunction could also contribute to the dysfunction of PPC. Taken together, malfunction of the motor cortex and neglect-like symptoms that are commonly observed in CRPS patients. Therapy aimed at normalizing the function of these areas might be beneficial in CRPS. It might be useful to study whether motor and visuospatial training might lead to alleviation of the CRPS symptoms.

## 6.3 Chronic pain and recurrent herpes simplex virus infections

The observed functional and morphological changes in the central pain circuitry, together with the widespread distribution of pain, support the hypothesis for central involvement in the development of pain in patients suffering from recurrent HSV infections.

The reduced hemodynamic responses to pain in ICs, ACC, and in thalamus, together with the normal hemodynamic responses to touch in SI and SII cortices suggest that in these patients, the pain-processing areas are specifically affected. The reduced responses could be a sign of a spinothalamocortical tract lesion that is too subtle to be otherwise detected. In these patients, the cortical responses to acute laser pain in the SII and PPC areas measured with MEG did not differ from those of the healthy control subjects, and the motor cortex reactivity to acute pain was normal (Vartiainen N, unpublished data). This fits well with these patients not having disturbing motor and neglect-like symptoms. This finding also suggests that chronic pain as such does not always lead to motor cortex and PPC dysfunction. On the contrary, the plasticity in SI was a common finding in both patient groups.

It is interesting that in most patients with recurrent HSV infections, there were no clinical signs of central nervous system infection. Two patients had meningitis, and one had suspected encephalitis. The possibility that a recurrent labial or genital virus infection in some susceptible individuals could cause changes in central pain processing circuits and cause central pain, should motivate further studies, especially among patient groups vulnerable to such infections. In susceptible patients, more aggressive treatment could possibly prevent the development of central nervous system changes and chronic pain.

## 6.4 Future goals

It is clear that the treatment of chronic pain should be based on the mechanism of pain. Brain imaging methods may be helpful in reaching this goal, as brain activity associated with certain mechanism may be distinct and could thereby be used for classification of pain conditions and for tailored pharmacotherapy and rehabilitation. One possible future approach may be the studying of resting state activity of the brain in chronic pain patients.

Brain imaging has helped us to understand which brain areas are activated when an individual perceives acute pain, and different areas are assumed to play different roles in contributing to the subjective experience of pain. Simultaneously with the experience of pain, complex pro- and antinociceptive modulation takes place along the neuraxis. Better understanding of this modulation by functional imaging may help to understand the development of various chronic pain conditions, and why some individuals may be susceptible to develop chronic pain. As this modulation occurs already at the level of the brain stem and the spinal cord, technical development allowing functional imaging of these regions will be necessary.

As several analgesic drugs are being developed for the treatment of chronic pain, and especially neuropathic pain, functional imaging of central nervous system may be used to facilitate the pharmacological development by quantifying central correlates of pharmacological effects.

# 7. Conclusions

The main results of this thesis work were the following:

The optimum ISI for recording cortical laser-evoked responses with best possible SNR in a restricted time slot is around 5 s.

In chronic CRPS, the plastic changes in the SI cortex appear to be permanent, at least during the three-year follow-up. The about 33% increased SI responses to painful compared to healthy hand stimulation may reflect central sensitization. Lowered pain thresholds and higher perceived pain estimates in both sides of the body suggest general hyperresponsiveness in these patients. Intact SII responses to painful laser stimulation suggest integrity of nociceptive ascending pathways from peripheral A $\delta$ -fibres to the SII cortex. The attenuated PPC responses and the attenuated motor-cortex reactivity might reflect PPC and motor cortex dysfunction that would explain the neglect-like symptoms and the motor weakness in the affected hand. It remains to be demonstrated what causes the observed dysfunction in cortical systems; is it the ongoing pain, or the (still unknown) primary pathophysiological process underlying CRPS?

Similar kind of reorganizational changes in the hand representation area of the SI cortex were found in CRPS patients and in HSV patients, suggesting that chronic pain of various aetiologies is associated with SI plasticity.

The morphological and functional changes in the central pain circuitry found in the patients suffering from recurrent HSV infections and from spontaneous fluctuating pain in one side of the body suggest central nervous system involvement in the development of pain. As the pain was on clinical grounds suspected to be associated with virus infections, it is possible that the observed central changes could be related to the virus and its latency in the brain. It might be clinically relevant to target patients who are susceptible to recurrent HSV infections, with more aggressive treatment, so that development of chronic pain could be avoided.

Chronic pain is a burden that reduces the quality of life and causes economical losses to individuals, companies, and to society as a whole. A better understanding of the pathophysiological processes in the development and maintenance of pain, especially when the origin of chronic pain is unclear, is needed. Suffering related to these conditions could be reduced by prevention and alleviation of symptoms with pharmacotherapy, physiotherapy, and psychological techniques that are target the underlying mechanism. In future, brain imaging could be used to facilitate mechanism-based diagnosis of chronic pain.

## Acknowledgements

This thesis was carried out at the Brain Research Unit of the Low Temperature Laboratory and the Advanced Magnetic Imaging Centre of the Helsinki University of Technology. It was financially supported by the Paulo Foundation and the Finnish Graduate School of Neuroscience to the author, and by the Sigrid Jusélius Foundation and the Academy of Finland to the research team.

I am grateful to the director of the Low Temperature Laboratory, Professor Mikko Paalanen for the first-class research environment that the laboratory continues to provide under his leadership. It has been a privilege to work in the Brain Research Unit, and I thank the head of the unit, Professor Riitta Hari, for giving me the opportunity to conduct the work for my thesis here.

I have been extremely lucky to work under the excellent supervision of Professor Riitta Hari. I am impressed by her devotion to neuroscience, her enthusiasm, and effectiveness combined with a warm personality and latest iPhone-tricks. The uncompromising quality of her scientific work and the constant striving for clarity of thought serve as an example for younger scientists. I want to thank my other supervisor Docent Nina Forss from the bottom of my heart. Her practical guidance during this thesis work has been invaluable, and as a clinician she has provided important clinical viewpoints. Her constructive support and positive thinking have served as a motivational force during times of frustration, and her great sense of humour helped also.

I am most grateful to Docent Tapani Salmi and Docent Maija Haanpää for their contribution as the members of my FGSN follow-up group. I wish to thank the pre-examiners of my thesis, Docent Juhani Partanen and Docent Maija Haanpää, for their comments and suggestions that greatly improved the thesis.

I owe my gratitude to my co-authors MSc Henri Autti, Dr. Maarit Gockel, Docent Veikko Jousmäki, Dr. Katariina Kallio-Laine, Professor Eija Kalso, Dr. Erika Kirveskari, Dr. Tuukka Raij, and Dr. Mikko Seppänen. I would especially like to acknowledge the wide expertise of Prof. Eija Kalso in the field of pain research that has been extremely valuable for my thesis work.

During my time in the lab, the small corner room of the old lab has changed to the spacious second floor room in renovated Nanotalo. I wish to thank my former and recent roommates, Yevhen Hlushchuk, Juha Järveläinen, Marika Kaksonen, Satu Lamminmäki, Anne Mandel, Marjatta Pohja, and Pavan Ramkumar for good company.

I would like to thank Helge Kainulainen and Ronny Screiber for expert technical support, and Miia Illman and Marita Kattelus for invaluable help in MEG and fMRI measurements. I am grateful to Ms. Teija Halme, Ms. Tuire Koivisto, Ms. Leena Meilahti, Ms. Pirjo Muukkonen, and Ms. Liisi Pasanen for their irreplaceable assistance in practical problems.

I am greatly in debt to Scott McMahon for revising my English.

I would like to thank all former and present colleagues and visiting scientists of the lab with whom I have been privileged to work with. Special thanks go to Jesper Andersson, Paolo Belardinelli, Gina Caetano, Jaana Hiltunen, Annika Hultén, Miika Koskinen, Jan Kujala, Miiu Kujala, Hannu Laaksonen, Sanna Malinen, Seppo Mattila, Cathy Nangini, Jussi Numminen, Lauri Parkkonen, Tiina Parviainen, Cyril Pernet, Hanna Renvall, Ville Renvall, Kristina Roiha, Mika Seppä, Martin Schürmann, Topi Tanskanen, Simo Vanni, and Johanna Vartiainen for their help and advice, and for contributing to the pleasant working environment of the lab.

I am greatly indebted to all the volunteers and patients who participated in painful measurements; without you, there would be no thesis.

I would like to thank all my friends for fun and relaxing times during the years which have passed while working on this thesis. I sometimes wonder how I have met so exceptional people like you. I remember with warmth the memorable sailing, skiing, and marathon trips around the world with the "family". I thank all the surfer dudes for the hard-core surfing at Peniche, Famara, and Kytö! Cheers for the team DC for the intense moments at the sea and Jallu! I owe my warmest thanks to my dear parents Matti and Maarit for their love and support through all my life. I am thankful to my father Matti for the comments on the manuscript of this thesis. I am happy that my grandfather Dr. Erkki Merikallio, who I admire for his accomplishments and all-around education, showed interest in my work. I wish to thank my little brother Valtteri for friendship and being the best possible little brother.

Finally I would like to thank you Laura, for your support, patience, and love. You have opened my eyes for things that I didn't know exist before I met you. You together with our newborn daughter are the loves of my life.

## References

- Aguirre GK, Zarahn E, and D'Esposito M. The variability of human, BOLD hemodynamic responses. *Neuroimage* 1998, 8: 360–369.
- Ahlfors SP, Ilmoniemi RJ, and Portin K. The effect of stimulation rate on the signal-to-noise ratio of evoked responses. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1993, 88: 339–342.
- Ahonen AI, Hämäläinen MS, Kajola MJ, Knuutila JET, Laine PP, Lounasmaa OV, Parkkonen LT, Simola JT, and Tesche CD. A 122-channel SQUID instrument for investigating the magnetic signals from the human brain. *Physica Scripta* 1992, T49: 198–205.
- Andersen G, Vestergaard K, Ingeman-Nielsen M, and Jensen TS. Incidence of central post-stroke pain. *Pain* 1995, 61: 187–193.
- Andersson JL, Lilja A, Hartvig P, Långstrom B, Gordh T, Handwerker H, and Torebjörk E. Somatotopic organization along the central sulcus, for pain localization in humans, as revealed by positron emission tomography. *Exp Brain Res* 1997, 117: 192–199.
- Apkarian AV, Bushnell MC, Treede RD, and Zubieta JK. Human brain mechanisms of pain perception and regulation in health and disease. *Eur J Pain* 2005, 9: 463–484.
- Apkarian AV, Sosa Y, Sonty S, Levy RM, Harden RN, Parrish TB, and Gitelman DR. Chronic back pain is associated with decreased prefrontal and thalamic gray matter density. *J Neurosci* 2004, 24: 10410–10415.
- Arvaja M, Lehtinen M, Koskela P, Lappalainen M, Paavonen J, and Vesikari T. Serological evaluation of herpes simplex virus type 1 and type 2 infections in pregnancy. Sex Transm Infect 1999, 75: 168–171.
- Ashburner J, and Friston KJ. Voxel-based morphometry--the methods. *Neuroimage* 2000, 11: 805-821.
- Baliki MN, Chialvo DR, Geha PY, Levy RM, Harden RN, Parrish TB, and Apkarian AV. Chronic pain and the emotional brain: specific brain activity associated with spontaneous fluctuations of intensity of chronic back pain. *J Neurosci* 2006, 26: 12165–12173.
- Baliki MN, Geha PY, Apkarian AV, and Chialvo DR. Beyond feeling: chronic pain hurts the brain, disrupting the default-mode network dynamics. *J Neurosci* 2008, 28: 1398–1403.
- Benedetti F, Arduino C, Costa S, Vighetti S, Tarenzi L, Rainero I, and Asteggiano G. Loss of expectation-related mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease makes analgesic therapies less effective. *Pain* 2006, 121: 133–144.
- Berthier M, Starkstein S, and Leiguarda R. Asymbolia for pain: a sensory-limbic disconnection syndrome. *Ann Neurol* 1988, 24: 41–49.
- Bingel U, Lorenz J, Glauche V, Knab R, Gläscher J, Weiller C, and Büchel C. Somatotopic organization of human somatosensory cortices for pain: a single trial fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 2004, 23: 224–232.

- Bingel U, Quante M, Knab R, Bromm B, Weiller C, and Büchel C. Single trial fMRI reveals significant contralateral bias in responses to laser pain within thalamus and somatosensory cortices. *Neuroimage* 2003, 18: 740–748.
- Bingel U, Schoell E, and Büchel C. Imaging pain modulation in health and disease. *Curr Opin Neurol* 2007, 20: 424–431.
- Birklein F, and Handwerker HO. Complex regional pain syndrome: how to resolve the complexity? *Pain* 2001, 94: 1–6.
- Birklein F, Riedl B, Sieweke N, Weber M, and Neundörfer B. Neurological findings in complex regional pain syndromes--analysis of 145 cases. *Acta Neurol Scand* 2000, 101: 262–269.
- Bornhövd K, Quante M, Glauche V, Bromm B, Weiller C, and Büchel C. Painful stimuli evoke different stimulus-response functions in the amygdala, prefrontal, insula and somatosensory cortex: a single-trial fMRI study. *Brain* 2002, 125: 1326–1336.
- Bragard D, Chen AC, and Plaghki L. Direct isolation of ultra-late (C-fibre) evoked brain potentials by CO2 laser stimulation of tiny cutaneous surface areas in man. *Neurosci Lett* 1996, 209: 81–84.
- Bromm B, and Lorenz J. Neurophysiological evaluation of pain. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1998, 107: 227–253.
- Brooks JC, Nurmikko TJ, Bimson WE, Singh KD, and Roberts N. fMRI of thermal pain: effects of stimulus laterality and attention. *Neuroimage* 2002, 15: 293–301.
- Brooks JC, Zambreanu L, Godinez A, Craig AD, and Tracey I. Somatotopic organisation of the human insula to painful heat studied with high resolution functional imaging. *Neuroimage* 2005, 27: 201–209.
- Büchel C, Bornhövd K, Quante M, Glauche V, Bromm B, and Weiller C. Dissociable neural responses related to pain intensity, stimulus intensity, and stimulus awareness within the anterior cingulate cortex: a parametric single-trial laser functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *J Neurosci* 2002, 22: 970–976.
- Casey KL, Beydoun A, Boivie J, Sjolund B, Holmgren H, Leijon G, Morrow TJ, and Rosen I. Laserevoked cerebral potentials and sensory function in patients with central pain. *Pain* 1996, 64: 485–491.
- Cauda F, Sacco K, Duca S, Cocito D, D'Agata F, Geminiani GC, and Canavero S. Altered resting state in diabetic neuropathic pain. *PLoS One* 2009, 4: e4542.
- Chen WT, Yuan RY, Shih YH, Yeh TC, Hung DL, Wu ZA, Ho LT, and Lin YY. Neuromagnetic SII responses do not fully reflect pain scale. *Neuroimage* 2006, 31: 670–676.
- Coghill RC, Sang CN, Maisog JM, and Iadarola MJ. Pain intensity processing within the human brain: a bilateral, distributed mechanism. *J Neurophysiol* 1999, 82: 1934–1943.
- Cohen D. Magnetoencephalography: detection of the brain's electrical activity with a superconducting magnetometer. *Science* 1972, 175: 664–666.
- Craig AD. Distribution of brainstem projections from spinal lamina I neurons in the cat and the monkey. *J Comp Neurol* 1995, 361: 225–248.
- Craig AD. How do you feel? Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2002, 3: 655–666.

- Craig AD. Pain mechanisms: labeled lines versus convergence in central processing. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 2003, 26: 1–30.
- Craig AD, and Andrew D. Responses of spinothalamic lamina I neurons to repeated brief contact heat stimulation in the cat. *J Neurophysiol* 2002, 87: 1902–1914.
- Cruccu G, Anand P, Attal N, Garcia-Larrea L, Haanpää M, Jørum E, Serra J, and Jensen TS. EFNS guidelines on neuropathic pain assessment. *Eur J Neurol* 2004, 11: 153–162.
- Davis KD, Hutchison WD, Lozano AM, Tasker RR, and Dostrovsky JO. Human anterior cingulate cortex neurons modulated by attention-demanding tasks. *J Neurophysiol* 2000, 83: 3575–3577.
- Davis KD, Kiss ZH, Luo L, Tasker RR, Lozano AM, and Dostrovsky JO. Phantom sensations generated by thalamic microstimulation. *Nature* 1998, 391: 385–387.
- Davis KD, Kiss ZH, Tasker RR, and Dostrovsky JO. Thalamic stimulation-evoked sensations in chronic pain patients and in nonpain (movement disorder) patients. *J Neurophysiol* 1996, 75: 1026–1037.
- Davis LE, and Johnson RT. An explanation for the localization of herpes simplex encephalitis? *Ann Neurol* 1979, 5: 2–5.
- de Mos M, Huygen FJ, Dieleman JP, Koopman JS, Stricker BH, and Sturkenboom MC. Medical history and the onset of complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS). *Pain* 2008, 139: 458–466.
- Del Gratta C, Pizzella V, Torquati K, and Romani GL. New trends in magnetoencephalography. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl* 1999, 50: 59–73.
- Derbyshire SW, Jones AK, Collins M, Feinmann C, and Harris M. Cerebral responses to pain in patients suffering acute post-dental extraction pain measured by positron emission tomography (PET). *Eur J Pain* 1999, 3: 103–113.
- Derbyshire SW, Jones AK, Creed F, Starz T, Meltzer CC, Townsend DW, Peterson AM, and Firestone L. Cerebral responses to noxious thermal stimulation in chronic low back pain patients and normal controls. *Neuroimage* 2002, 16: 158–168.
- Derbyshire SW, Jones AK, Devani P, Friston KJ, Feinmann C, Harris M, Pearce S, Watson JD, and Frackowiak RS. Cerebral responses to pain in patients with atypical facial pain measured by positron emission tomography. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1994, 57: 1166–1172.
- Devor M. Responses of nerves to injury in relation to neuropathic pain. In: McMahon SB, and Koltzenburg M (Eds.), *Textbook of Pain*. Elsevier, 2006, 905–927.
- Di Piero V, Jones AK, Iannotti F, Powell M, Perani D, Lenzi GL, and Frackowiak RS. Chronic pain: a PET study of the central effects of percutaneous high cervical cordotomy. *Pain* 1991, 46: 9–12.
- Dostrowsky JO, and Craig AD. Ascending projection systems. In: McMahon SB, and Koltzenburg M (Eds.), *Textbook of pain*. Elsevier, 2006, 187–203.
- Ducreux D, Attal N, Parker F, and Bouhassira D. Mechanisms of central neuropathic pain: a combined psychophysical and fMRI study in syringomyelia. *Brain* 2006, 129: 963–976.
- Eickhoff SB, Amunts K, Mohlberg H, and Zilles K. The human parietal operculum. II. Stereotaxic maps and correlation with functional imaging results. *Cereb Cortex* 2006a, 16: 268–279.

- Eickhoff SB, Schleicher A, Zilles K, and Amunts K. The human parietal operculum. I. Cytoarchitectonic mapping of subdivisions. *Cereb Cortex* 2006b, 16: 254–267.
- Eisenberg E, Chistyakov AV, Yudashkin M, Kaplan B, Hafner H, and Feinsod M. Evidence for cortical hyperexcitability of the affected limb representation area in CRPS: a psychophysical and transcranial magnetic stimulation study. *Pain* 2005, 113: 99–105.
- Flor H. Maladaptive plasticity, memory for pain and phantom limb pain: review and suggestions for new therapies. *Expert Rev Neurother* 2008, 8: 809–818.
- Flor H, Braun C, Elbert T, and Birbaumer N. Extensive reorganization of primary somatosensory cortex in chronic back pain patients. *Neurosci Lett* 1997, 224: 5–8.
- Flor H, Elbert T, Knecht S, Wienbruch C, Pantev C, Birbaumer N, Larbig W, and Taub E. Phantomlimb pain as a perceptual correlate of cortical reorganization following arm amputation. *Nature* 1995, 375: 482–484.
- Forss N, Kirveskari E, and Gockel M. Mirror-like spread of chronic pain. *Neurology* 2005a, 65: 748–750.
- Forss N, Raij TT, Seppä M, and Hari R. Common cortical network for first and second pain. *Neuroimage* 2005b, 24: 132–142.
- Fox MD, and Raichle ME. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2007, 8: 700–711.
- Friston KJ, Holmes AP, Poline JB, Grasby PJ, Williams SC, Frackowiak RS, and Turner R. Analysis of fMRI time-series revisited. *Neuroimage* 1995, 2: 45–53.
- Frot M, Magnin M, Mauguière F, and Garcia-Larrea L. Human SII and posterior insula differently encode thermal laser stimuli. *Cereb Cortex* 2007, 17: 610–620.
- Frot M, Mauguière F, Magnin M, and Garcia-Larrea L. Parallel processing of nociceptive A-delta inputs in SII and midcingulate cortex in humans. *J Neurosci* 2008, 28: 944–952.
- Garcia-Larrea L, and Peyron R. Motor cortex stimulation for neuropathic pain: From phenomenology to mechanisms. *Neuroimage* 2007, 37 Suppl 1: S71–79.
- Garcia-Larrea L, Peyron R, Laurent B, and Mauguière F. Association and dissociation between laserevoked potentials and pain perception. *Neuroreport* 1997, 8: 3785–3789.
- Gelnar PA, Krauss BR, Sheehe PR, Szeverenyi NM, and Apkarian AV. A comparative fMRI study of cortical representations for thermal painful, vibrotactile, and motor performance tasks. *Neuroimage* 1999, 10: 460–482.
- Gibson SJ, Littlejohn GO, Gorman MM, Helme RD, and Granges G. Altered heat pain thresholds and cerebral event-related potentials following painful CO2 laser stimulation in subjects with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Pain* 1994, 58: 185–193.
- Glahn DC, Laird AR, Ellison-Wright I, Thelen SM, Robinson JL, Lancaster JL, Bullmore E, and Fox PT. Meta-analysis of gray matter anomalies in schizophrenia: application of anatomic likelihood estimation and network analysis. *Biol Psychiatry* 2008, 64: 774–781.
- Gonzales GR. Postherpes simplex type 1 neuralgia simulating postherpetic neuralgia. *J Pain Symptom Manage* 1992, 7: 320–323.

- Greenspan JD, Lee RR, and Lenz FA. Pain sensitivity alterations as a function of lesion location in the parasylvian cortex. *Pain* 1999, 81: 273–282.
- Greenspan JD, and Winfield JA. Reversible pain and tactile deficits associated with a cerebral tumor compressing the posterior insula and parietal operculum. *Pain* 1992, 50: 29–39.
- Haanpää M, and Paavonen J. Transient urinary retention and chronic neuropathic pain associated with genital herpes simplex virus infection. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2004, 83: 946–949.
- Hansen HC, Treede RD, Lorenz J, Kunze K, and Bromm B. Recovery from brain-stem lesions involving the nociceptive pathways: comparison of clinical findings with laser-evoked potentials. *J Clin Neurophysiol* 1996, 13: 330–338.
- Harden RN, Bruehl S, Galer BS, Saltz S, Bertram M, Backonja M, Gayles R, Rudin N, Bhugra MK, and Stanton-Hicks M. Complex regional pain syndrome: are the IASP diagnostic criteria valid and sufficiently comprehensive? *Pain* 1999, 83: 211–219.
- Harden RN, Bruehl S, Stanton-Hicks M, and Wilson PR. Proposed new diagnostic criteria for complex regional pain syndrome. *Pain Med* 2007, 8: 326–331.
- Hari R. The neuromagnetic method in the study of the human auditory cortex. In: Grandori F, Hoke M, and Romani GL (Eds.), *Auditory Evoked Magnetic Fields and Electric Potentials*. Vol 6. Basel: Karger, 1990, 222–282.
- Hari R. Magnetoencephalography in clinical neurophysiological assessment of human cortical functions. In: Niedermeyer E, and Lopes da Silva F (Eds.), *Electroencephalography: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related Fields*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2005, 1165–1197.
- Hari R, and Forss N. Magnetoencephalography in the study of human somatosensory cortical processing. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 1999, 354: 1145–1154.
- Hari R, Kaukoranta E, Reinikainen K, Huopaniemi T, and Mauno J. Neuromagnetic localization of cortical activity evoked by painful dental stimulation in man. *Neurosci Lett* 1983, 42: 77–82.
- Hari R, Levänen S, and Raij T. Timing of human cortical functions during cognition: role of MEG. *Trends Cogn Sci* 2000, 4: 455–462.
- Hari R, Portin K, Kettenmann B, Jousmäki V, and Kobal G. Right-hemisphere preponderance of responses to painful CO2 stimulation of the human nasal mucosa. *Pain* 1997, 72: 145–151.
- Herrero MT, Barcia C, and Navarro JM. Functional anatomy of thalamus and basal ganglia. *Childs Nerv Syst* 2002, 18: 386–404.
- Hsieh JC, Belfrage M, Stone-Elander S, Hansson P, and Ingvar M. Central representation of chronic ongoing neuropathic pain studied by positron emission tomography. *Pain* 1995, 63: 225–236.
- Hutchison WD, Davis KD, Lozano AM, Tasker RR, and Dostrovsky JO. Pain-related neurons in the human cingulate cortex. *Nat Neurosci* 1999, 2: 403–405.
- Huttunen J, Kobal G, Kaukoranta E, and Hari R. Cortical responses to painful CO2 stimulation of nasal mucosa; a magnetoencephalographic study in man. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1986, 64: 347–349.
- Hämäläinen M, Hari R, Ilmoniemi RJ, Knuutila J, and Lounasmaa O. Magnetoencephalography -theory, instrumentation, and applications to noninvasive studies of the working human brain. . *Rev Mod Phys* 1993, 65: 413–497.
- Iadarola MJ, Max MB, Berman KF, Byas-Smith MG, Coghill RC, Gracely RH, and Bennett GJ. Unilateral decrease in thalamic activity observed with positron emission tomography in patients with chronic neuropathic pain. *Pain* 1995, 63: 55–64.
- Jacobson RC, Chapman CR, and Gerlach R. Stimulus intensity and inter-stimulus interval effects on pain-related cerebral potentials. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1985, 62: 352–363.
- Jasmin L, Rabkin SD, Granato A, Boudah A, and Ohara PT. Analgesia and hyperalgesia from GABAmediated modulation of the cerebral cortex. *Nature* 2003, 424: 316–320.
- Jasper H, Penfield, W. Electrocorticograms in man: Effect of voluntary movement upon the electrical activity of the precentral gyrus. *Archiv für Psychiatrie und Zeitschrift Neurologie* 1949, 183: 163–174.
- Jones AK, and Derbyshire SW. Reduced cortical responses to noxious heat in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1997, 56: 601–607.
- Juottonen K, Gockel M, Silén T, Hurri H, Hari R, and Forss N. Altered central sensorimotor processing in patients with complex regional pain syndrome. *Pain* 2002, 98: 315–323.
- Jänig W, and Baron R. Complex regional pain syndrome: mystery explained? *Lancet Neurol* 2003, 2: 687–697.
- Kakigi R, Hoshiyama M, Shimojo M, Naka D, Yamasaki H, Watanabe S, Xiang J, Maeda K, Lam K, Itomi K, and Nakamura A. The somatosensory evoked magnetic fields. *Prog Neurobiol* 2000, 61: 495–523.
- Kakigi R, Inui K, and Tamura Y. Electrophysiological studies on human pain perception. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2005, 116: 743–763.
- Kakigi R, Koyama S, Hoshiyama M, Kitamura Y, Shimojo M, and Watanabe S. Pain-related magnetic fields following painful CO2 laser stimulation in man. *Neurosci Lett* 1995, 192: 45– 48.
- Kakigi R, Shibasaki H, Kuroda Y, Neshige R, Endo C, Tabuchi K, and Kishikawa T. Pain-related somatosensory evoked potentials in syringomyelia. *Brain* 1991, 114: 1871–1889.
- Kallio-Laine K, Seppänen M, Lokki ML, Lappalainen M, Notkola IL, Seppälä I, Koskinen M, Valtonen V, and Kalso E. Widespread unilateral pain associated with herpes simplex virus infections. *J Pain* 2008, 9: 658–665.
- Kanda M, Nagamine T, Ikeda A, Ohara S, Kunieda T, Fujiwara N, Yazawa S, Sawamoto N, Matsumoto R, Taki W, and Shibasaki H. Primary somatosensory cortex is actively involved in pain processing in human. *Brain Res* 2000, 853: 282–289.
- Kemler MA, Schouten HJ, and Gracely RH. Diagnosing sensory abnormalities with either normal values or values from contralateral skin: comparison of two approaches in complex regional pain syndrome I. *Anesthesiology* 2000, 93: 718–727.

- Kenshalo DR, Jr., Chudler EH, Anton F, and Dubner R. SI nociceptive neurons participate in the encoding process by which monkeys perceive the intensity of noxious thermal stimulation. *Brain Res* 1988, 454: 378–382.
- Kevetter GA, Haber LH, Yezierski RP, Chung JM, Martin RF, and Willis WD. Cells of origin of the spinoreticular tract in the monkey. *J Comp Neurol* 1982, 207: 61–74.
- Konietzny F, Perl ER, Trevino D, Light A, and Hensel H. Sensory experiences in man evoked by intraneural electrical stimulation of intact cutaneous afferent fibers. *Exp Brain Res* 1981, 42: 219–222.
- Kupers R, and Kehlet H. Brain imaging of clinical pain states: a critical review and strategies for future studies. *Lancet Neurol* 2006, 5: 1033–1044.
- Lausten-Thomsen U, and Laursen JO. [Long-term reflex dystrophy leading to bilateral knee exarticulation]. *Ugeskr Laeger* 2005, 167: 4574–4575.
- Lenz FA, and Dougherty PM. Pain processing in the human thalamus. In: Steriade M, Jones EG, and McCormick DA (Eds.), *Thalamus: Experimental and Clinical Aspects*. Vol 2. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1997, 617–652.
- Lenz FA, Rios M, Zirh A, Chau D, Krauss G, and Lesser RP. Painful stimuli evoke potentials recorded over the human anterior cingulate gyrus. *J Neurophysiol* 1998, 79: 2231–2234.
- Lilja J, Endo T, Hofstetter C, Westman E, Young J, Olson L, and Spenger C. Blood oxygenation level-dependent visualization of synaptic relay stations of sensory pathways along the neuroaxis in response to graded sensory stimulation of a limb. *J Neurosci* 2006, 26: 6330– 6336.
- Logothetis NK, Pauls J, Augath M, Trinath T, and Oeltermann A. Neurophysiological investigation of the basis of the fMRI signal. *Nature* 2001, 412: 150–157.
- Lorenz J, Grasedyck K, and Bromm B. Middle and long latency somatosensory evoked potentials after painful laser stimulation in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1996, 100: 165–168.
- Lotze M, Flor H, Grodd W, Larbig W, and Birbaumer N. Phantom movements and pain. An fMRI study in upper limb amputees. *Brain* 2001, 124: 2268–2277.
- Lundberg DC. Methods of Treating Chronic Pain A Systematic Review. Stockholm: The Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care, 2006.
- Maihöfner C, Baron R, DeCol R, Binder A, Birklein F, Deuschl G, Handwerker HO, and Schattschneider J. The motor system shows adaptive changes in complex regional pain syndrome. *Brain* 2007, 130: 2671–2687.
- Maihöfner C, Forster C, Birklein F, Neundörfer B, and Handwerker HO. Brain processing during mechanical hyperalgesia in complex regional pain syndrome: a functional MRI study. *Pain* 2005, 114: 93–103.
- Maihöfner C, Handwerker HO, Neundörfer B, and Birklein F. Patterns of cortical reorganization in complex regional pain syndrome. *Neurology* 2003, 61: 1707–1715.
- Maihöfner C, Handwerker HO, Neundörfer B, and Birklein F. Cortical reorganization during recovery from complex regional pain syndrome. *Neurology* 2004a, 63: 693–701.

- Maihöfner C, Schmelz M, Forster C, Neundörfer B, and Handwerker HO. Neural activation during experimental allodynia: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Eur J Neurosci* 2004b, 19: 3211–3218.
- Mazzola L, Isnard J, and Mauguière F. Somatosensory and pain responses to stimulation of the second somatosensory area (SII) in humans. A comparison with SI and insular responses. *Cereb Cortex* 2006, 16: 960–968.
- Merskey H, Bogduk, N. (Eds). Classification of Chronic Pain: Descriptions of Chronic Pain Syndromes and Definitions of Pain Terms. 2nd ed. Seattle: IASP Press 1994.
- Mertens M, and Lütkenhöner B. Efficient neuromagnetic determination of landmarks in the somatosensory cortex. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2000, 111: 1478–1487.
- Mesulam MM, and Mufson EJ. Insula of the old world monkey. III: Efferent cortical output and comments on function. *J Comp Neurol* 1982, 212: 38–52.
- Meyer RA, Davis KD, Cohen RH, Treede RD, and Campbell JN. Mechanically insensitive afferents (MIAs) in cutaneous nerves of monkey. *Brain Res* 1991, 561: 252–261.
- Millan MJ. Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 2002, 66: 355-474.
- Mitchell SW, Morehouse GR, and Keen WW. Gunshot wounds and other injuries of nerves. Philadelphia: Lippincott, 1864.
- Montes C, Magnin M, Maarrawi J, Frot M, Convers P, Mauguiere F, and Garcia-Larrea L. Thalamic thermo-algesic transmission: ventral posterior (VP) complex versus VMpo in the light of a thalamic infarct with central pain. *Pain* 2005, 113: 223–232.
- Murakami S, and Okada Y. Contributions of principal neocortical neurons to magnetoencephalography and electroencephalography signals. *J Physiol* 2006, 575: 925–936.
- Mäkelä JP, Forss N, Jääskeläinen J, Kirveskari E, Korvenoja A, and Paetau R. Magnetoencephalography in neurosurgery. *Neurosurgery* 2006, 59: 493–510; discussion 510–491.
- Nagasako EM, Oaklander AL, and Dworkin RH. Congenital insensitivity to pain: an update. *Pain* 2003, 101: 213–219.
- Nakata H, Inui K, Wasaka T, Tamura Y, Tran TD, Qiu Y, Wang X, Nguyen TB, and Kakigi R. Movements modulate cortical activities evoked by noxious stimulation. *Pain* 2004, 107: 91–98.
- Nakata H, Tamura Y, Sakamoto K, Akatsuka K, Hirai M, Inui K, Hoshiyama M, Saitoh Y, Yamamoto T, Katayama Y, and Kakigi R. Evoked magnetic fields following noxious laser stimulation of the thigh in humans. *Neuroimage* 2008, 42: 858–868.
- Oaklander AL, and Fields HL. Is reflex sympathetic dystrophy/complex regional pain syndrome type I a small-fiber neuropathy? *Ann Neurol* 2009, 65: 629–638.
- Ochoa J, and Torebjörk E. Sensations evoked by intraneural microstimulation of C nociceptor fibres in human skin nerves. *J Physiol* 1989, 415: 583–599.
- Ogawa S, Lee TM, Kay AR, and Tank DW. Brain magnetic resonance imaging with contrast dependent on blood oxygenation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990, 87: 9868–9872.

- Ostrowsky K, Magnin M, Ryvlin P, Isnard J, Guénot M, and Mauguière F. Representation of pain and somatic sensation in the human insula: a study of responses to direct electrical cortical stimulation. *Cereb Cortex* 2002, 12: 376–385.
- Perl ER. Cutaneous polymodal receptors: characteristics and plasticity. *Prog Brain Res* 1996, 113: 21–37.
- Petrovic P, Kalso E, Petersson KM, and Ingvar M. Placebo and opioid analgesia-- imaging a shared neuronal network. *Science* 2002, 295: 1737–1740.
- Peyron R, Laurent B, and Garcia-Larrea L. Functional imaging of brain responses to pain. A review and meta-analysis (2000). *Neurophysiol Clin* 2000, 30: 263–288.
- Pleger B, Ragert P, Schwenkreis P, Forster AF, Wilimzig C, Dinse H, Nicolas V, Maier C, and Tegenthoff M. Patterns of cortical reorganization parallel impaired tactile discrimination and pain intensity in complex regional pain syndrome. *Neuroimage* 2006, 32: 503–510.
- Pleger B, Tegenthoff M, Ragert P, Forster AF, Dinse HR, Schwenkreis P, Nicolas V, and Maier C. Sensorimotor retuning [corrected] in complex regional pain syndrome parallels pain reduction. *Ann Neurol* 2005, 57: 425–429.
- Pleger B, Tegenthoff M, Schwenkreis P, Janssen F, Ragert P, Dinse HR, Völker B, Zenz M, and Maier C. Mean sustained pain levels are linked to hemispherical side-to-side differences of primary somatosensory cortex in the complex regional pain syndrome I. *Exp Brain Res* 2004, 155: 115–119.
- Ploner M, Freund HJ, and Schnitzler A. Pain affect without pain sensation in a patient with a postcentral lesion. *Pain* 1999a, 81: 211–214.
- Ploner M, Schmitz F, Freund HJ, and Schnitzler A. Parallel activation of primary and secondary somatosensory cortices in human pain processing. *J Neurophysiol* 1999b, 81: 3100–3104.
- Ploner M, Schmitz F, Freund HJ, and Schnitzler A. Differential organization of touch and pain in human primary somatosensory cortex. *J Neurophysiol* 2000, 83: 1770–1776.
- Raij TT, Forss N, Stancak A, and Hari R. Modulation of motor-cortex oscillatory activity by painful Adelta- and C-fiber stimuli. *Neuroimage* 2004, 23: 569–573.
- Rainville P, Duncan GH, Price DD, Carrier B, and Bushnell MC. Pain affect encoded in human anterior cingulate but not somatosensory cortex. *Science* 1997, 277: 968–971.
- Rees H, and Roberts MH. The anterior pretectal nucleus: a proposed role in sensory processing. *Pain* 1993, 53: 121–135.
- Salenius S, and Hari R. Synchronous cortical oscillatory activity during motor action. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 2003, 13: 678–684.
- Salenius S, Schnitzler A, Salmelin R, Jousmäki V, and Hari R. Modulation of human cortical rolandic rhythms during natural sensorimotor tasks. *Neuroimage* 1997, 5: 221–228.
- Salmelin R, and Hari R. Spatiotemporal characteristics of sensorimotor neuromagnetic rhythms related to thumb movement. *Neuroscience* 1994, 60: 537–550.
- Salmelin R, and Kujala J. Neural representation of language: activation versus long-range connectivity. *Trends Cogn Sci* 2006, 10: 519–525.

- Schmidt R, Schmelz M, Forster C, Ringkamp M, Torebjork E, and Handwerker H. Novel classes of responsive and unresponsive C nociceptors in human skin. *J Neurosci* 1995, 15: 333–341.
- Schnitzler A, and Ploner M. Neurophysiology and functional neuroanatomy of pain perception. *J Clin Neurophysiol* 2000, 17: 592–603.
- Scholz J, and Woolf CJ. Can we conquer pain? Nat Neurosci 2002, 5 Suppl: 1062–1067.
- Schweinhardt P, Glynn C, Brooks J, McQuay H, Jack T, Chessell I, Bountra C, and Tracey I. An fMRI study of cerebral processing of brush-evoked allodynia in neuropathic pain patients. *Neuroimage* 2006a, 32: 256–265.
- Schweinhardt P, Lee M, and Tracey I. Imaging pain in patients: is it meaningful? *Curr Opin Neurol* 2006b, 19: 392–400.
- Schwenkreis P, Janssen F, Rommel O, Pleger B, Volker B, Hosbach I, Dertwinkel R, Maier C, and Tegenthoff M. Bilateral motor cortex disinhibition in complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS) type I of the hand. *Neurology* 2003, 61: 515–519.
- Shibasaki H, Ikeda A, and Nagamine T. Use of magnetoencephalography in the presurgical evaluation of epilepsy patients. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2007, 118: 1438–1448.
- Sikes RW, and Vogt BA. Nociceptive neurons in area 24 of rabbit cingulate cortex. *J Neurophysiol* 1992, 68: 1720–1732.
- Silén T, Forss N, Jensen O, and Hari R. Abnormal reactivity of the approximately 20-Hz motor cortex rhythm in Unverricht Lundborg type progressive myoclonus epilepsy. *Neuroimage* 2000, 12: 707–712.
- Simões C, Mertens M, Forss N, Jousmäki V, Lütkenhöner B, and Hari R. Functional overlap of finger representations in human SI and SII cortices. *J Neurophysiol* 2001, 86: 1661–1665.
- Spiegel J, Hansen C, and Treede RD. Clinical evaluation criteria for the assessment of impaired pain sensitivity by thulium-laser evoked potentials. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2000, 111: 725–735.
- Stanton-Hicks M, Jänig W, Hassenbusch S, Haddox JD, Boas R, and Wilson P. Reflex sympathetic dystrophy: changing concepts and taxonomy. *Pain* 1995, 63: 127–133.
- Sörös P, Knecht S, Bantel C, Imai T, Wüsten R, Pantev C, Lütkenhöner B, Bürkle H, and Henningsen H. Functional reorganization of the human primary somatosensory cortex after acute pain demonstrated by magnetoencephalography. *Neurosci Lett* 2001, 298: 195–198.
- Tarkiainen A, Liljeström M, Seppä M, and Salmelin R. The 3D topography of MEG source localization accuracy: effects of conductor model and noise. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2003, 114: 1977–1992.
- Tecchio F, Padua L, Aprile I, and Rossini PM. Carpal tunnel syndrome modifies sensory hand cortical somatotopy: a MEG study. *Hum Brain Mapp* 2002, 17: 28–36.
- Timmermann L, Ploner M, Haucke K, Schmitz F, Baltissen R, and Schnitzler A. Differential coding of pain intensity in the human primary and secondary somatosensory cortex. *J Neurophysiol* 2001, 86: 1499–1503.
- Tommerdahl M, Delemos KA, Vierck CJ, Jr., Favorov OV, and Whitsel BL. Anterior parietal cortical response to tactile and skin-heating stimuli applied to the same skin site. *J Neurophysiol* 1996, 75: 2662–2670.

- Treede RD, Apkarian AV, Bromm B, Greenspan JD, and Lenz FA. Cortical representation of pain: functional characterization of nociceptive areas near the lateral sulcus. *Pain* 2000, 87: 113–119.
- Treede RD, Jensen TS, Campbell JN, Cruccu G, Dostrovsky JO, Griffin JW, Hansson P, Hughes R, Nurmikko T, and Serra J. Neuropathic pain: redefinition and a grading system for clinical and research purposes. *Neurology* 2008, 70: 1630–1635.
- Treede RD, Kenshalo DR, Gracely RH, and Jones AK. The cortical representation of pain. *Pain* 1999, 79: 105–111.
- Treede RD, Lankers J, Frieling A, Zangemeister WH, Kunze K, and Bromm B. Cerebral potentials evoked by painful, laser stimuli in patients with syringomyelia. *Brain* 1991, 114: 1595–1607.
- Truini A, Haanpää M, Zucchi R, Galeotti F, Iannetti GD, Romaniello A, and Cruccu G. Laser-evoked potentials in post-herpetic neuralgia. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2003, 114: 702–709.
- Truini A, Rossi P, Galeotti F, Romaniello A, Virtuoso M, De Lena C, Leandri M, and Cruccu G. Excitability of the Adelta nociceptive pathways as assessed by the recovery cycle of laser evoked potentials in humans. *Exp Brain Res* 2004, 155: 120–123.
- Tsubokawa T, Katayama Y, Yamamoto T, Hirayama T, and Koyama S. Chronic motor cortex stimulation for the treatment of central pain. *Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien)* 1991, 52: 137–139.
- Wager TD, Rilling JK, Smith EE, Sokolik A, Casey KL, Davidson RJ, Kosslyn SM, Rose RM, and Cohen JD. Placebo-induced changes in FMRI in the anticipation and experience of pain. *Science* 2004, 303: 1162–1167.
- Valet M, Sprenger T, Boecker H, Willoch F, Rummeny E, Conrad B, Erhard P, and Tölle TR. Distraction modulates connectivity of the cingulo-frontal cortex and the midbrain during painan fMRI analysis. *Pain* 2004, 109: 399–408.
- Watanabe S, Kakigi R, Koyama S, Hoshiyama M, and Kaneoke Y. Pain processing traced by magnetoencephalography in the human brain. *Brain Topogr* 1998, 10: 255–264.
- Veldman PH, Reynen HM, Arntz IE, and Goris RJ. Signs and symptoms of reflex sympathetic dystrophy: prospective study of 829 patients. *Lancet* 1993, 342: 1012–1016.
- Westlund KN, and Craig AD. Association of spinal lamina I projections with brainstem catecholamine neurons in the monkey. *Exp Brain Res* 1996, 110: 151–162.
- Whitley RJ, and Roizman B. Herpes simplex virus infections. Lancet 2001, 357: 1513–1518.
- Wikström H, Huttunen J, Korvenoja A, Virtanen J, Salonen O, Aronen H, and Ilmoniemi RJ. Effects of interstimulus interval on somatosensory evoked magnetic fields (SEFs): a hypothesis concerning SEF generation at the primary sensorimotor cortex. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1996, 100: 479–487.
- Willis WD, and Westlund KN. Neuroanatomy of the pain system and of the pathways that modulate pain. *J Clin Neurophysiol* 1997, 14: 2–31.
- Witting N, Kupers RC, Svensson P, and Jensen TS. A PET activation study of brush-evoked allodynia in patients with nerve injury pain. *Pain* 2006, 120: 145–154.
- Vogt BA. Pain and emotion interactions in subregions of the cingulate gyrus. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2005, 6: 533–544.

- Woolf CJ, and Mannion RJ. Neuropathic pain: aetiology, symptoms, mechanisms, and management. *Lancet* 1999, 353: 1959–1964.
- Woolf CJ, and Salter MW. Plasticity and pain: role of the dorsal horn. In: McMahon SB, and Koltzenburg M (Eds.), *Textbook of pain*. Elsevier, 2006, 91–105.
- Zambreanu L, Wise RG, Brooks JC, Iannetti GD, and Tracey I. A role for the brainstem in central sensitisation in humans. Evidence from functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Pain* 2005, 114: 397–407.